



Kenneth Copeland Publications

Unless otherwise noted, all scripture is from the King James Version of the Bible.

Scripture quotations marked The Amplified Bible are from The Amplified Bible, Old Testament © 1965, 1987 by the Zondervan Corporation. The Amplified New Testament © 1958, 1987 by The Lockman Foundation. Used by permission.

Scripture quotations marked New American Standard are from the New American Standard Bible © 1960, 1962, 1963, 1968, 1971, 1972, 1973, 1975, 1977, 1995 by The Lockman Foundation. Used by permission.

Scripture quotations marked New International Version are from The Holy Bible, New International Version © 1973, 1978, 1984 by the International Bible Society.

Used by permission of Zondervan Publishing House.

Scripture quotations marked Weymouth are from The New Testament in Modern Speech by Richard Francis Weymouth © 1996 Kenneth Copeland Publications.

Scripture quotations marked Wuest are from The New Testament: An Expanded Translation by Kenneth S. Wuest © Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co. 1961. All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations marked The Living Bible are from The Living Bible $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$

1971. Used by permission of Tyndale House Publishers Inc., Wheaton, Illinois 60189. All rights reserved.

Walk With God

ePDF ISBN 978-1-57562-599-7

30-8521

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{G}}$ 1995 Eagle Mountain International Church Inc. aka Kenneth Copeland Publications

All rights reserved under International Copyright Law. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without the written permission of the publisher, excepting brief quotations used in reviews.

This e-book is licensed for your personal, noncommercial use only and may not be re-sold or given away to other people. If you would like to share this book, or sow a copy into another's life, please purchase an additional copy for each person you share it with. If you are reading this book and did not purchase it, and/or it was not purchased for your use only, please visit kem.org and purchase your own copy.

Kenneth Copeland Publications

Fort Worth, TX 76192-0001

For more information about Kenneth Copeland Ministries, visit kcm.org or call 1-800-600-7395 (U.S. only) or +1-817-852-6000.

Contents

Introduction

- 1. Old Testament Obedience
- 2. God Gives Us A Choice
- 3. Jesus Our Example
- 4. Newness Of Life
- 5. A Living Communion With Him
- 6. The Comfort Of The Holy Ghost
- 7. Praying The Perfect Will Of God
- 8. Becoming The Glorious Church
- 9. From Glory To Glory

About The Author

<u>Prayer For Salvation And Baptism In The Holy Spirit</u>

Materials To Help You Receive Your Healing

We're Here For You!

Introduction

Through the years, as Ken and I have traveled across the country, we've often heard, "Churches are failing. Believers are failing. People who know God's Word are failing. What's wrong?"

The answer is simple: God's people are not walking in obedience. They're not obeying His Word. They're not walking in faith and many are ignorant of what His Word says about them. Others are trying to hang on to the world's way with one hand and the things of God with the other. It's easy to "talk the talk," but it takes dedication to "walk the walk."

God's deepest desire has always been to fellowship with His children, but He is hindered so often because of our disobedience, just as He was in the Garden of Eden because of Adam's disobedience.

As the Body of Christ, we have come to a place where we must determine to fellowship with God and obey Him *all* the time. The laws of the Spirit apply to every aspect of our existence—and when we refuse to be obedient, we shut the door to His blessings in that area. For example, although Jesus already paid the price for our salvation, we couldn't be born again until we made ourselves obedient to the gospel. We must get serious about our walk with Him and allow God to occupy the number one place in our lives.

You may say, "How can I live for God? There is so much pressure on me. Everyone around me is living the other way. What can I do that's important to God? I'm just one person."

Satan knows his days are numbered, so he is doing everything he can to destroy the Church of Jesus Christ. You may only be one person, but every member of the Church of Jesus Christ has a part to play. There are no insignificant members in His Body. The Lord has a work for you to do, a special part for you to play, a place that only *you* can fill.

If you desire to be part of that glorious Church when Jesus returns, put yourself in agreement with God and obey His Word. Commit to walking with Him.

"How can I do that?" you ask. Well, you can't, outside the realm of obedience. Amos 3:3 says, "Can two walk together, except they be agreed?" You have to be in agreement with God if you want to walk with Him. Learn to agree with His Word. Learn to make His thoughts your thoughts, His ways your ways.

The first step is to find out what God has to say about obedience. The importance of walking in obedience to God is emphasized throughout Scripture.

So come before the Word of God as a little child, as though you have never read or heard it before. Walk with me through the Word of God as we search the Scripture regarding obedience. Come ready to learn, ready to change, ready for your mind to be renewed. Come ready to obey!

- Gloria Copeland

1. Old Testament Obedience

God has always desired a people who would choose to walk with Him—to follow Him and to come into agreement with Him in the earth.

Generation after generation He has desired a people He could elevate to such a place that all the nations of the world would know they were the ones He had blessed. But there has always been a problem. It existed in the Garden of Eden and was in the children of Israel in the wilderness. To a great extent, it's in the Church today. The problem? Disobedient people.

Walking the Walk

Under the old covenant, the people had to be obedient by keeping the Law diligently, with their souls—their minds, wills and emotions.

Under the new covenant, we're to keep God's Word not only with our souls, but with our hearts (our spirits). It's so much easier for us to be obedient to God than it was for them because we have a new heart, born again in the image and nature of God.

More than ever, we should be obedient to Him because now we don't have to walk according to Old Testament law, but in newness of our born-again spirits. We've been reborn to be obedient.

While we're here on the earth, we must do what we can for God. This includes being obedient and victorious in every area of our lives.

Jesus knew this when He was a man on the earth. He was raised among people who knew they had to obey the voice of God and keep His statutes. He learned what the prophets of God before Him had said, and began a walk of perfect obedience.

Lessons in Obedience

Let's examine the lives of some of those Old Testament men who were faced with the choices of life or death, obedience or disobedience. We'll learn valuable lessons from their lives. Adam is our example of disobedience, while Enoch, Noah, Abraham and Moses are good examples of obedience. We will see the choices these men made and the consequences.

Some Scripture passages may be familiar. You may have heard and read them many times, but I remind you of the Apostle Paul's words to the Corinthian church: "Now these things befell them by way of a figure—as an example and warning [to us]; they were written to admonish and fit us for right action by good instruction..." (1 Corinthians 10:11, *The Amplified Bible*).

These examples of men faithful to God will help inspire us to faithfulness as well. They will reveal to us the victorious outcome of obedience. Or, as in Adam's case, the disastrous outcome of *dis* obedience. We will let these men, all of whom had a choice, encourage us to make the right choice. First we'll look at Adam's downfall that came because of failure to do what God said.

Adam

And God said, Let us make man in our image, after our likeness: and let them have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over the cattle, and over all the earth, and over every creeping thing that creepeth upon the earth (Genesis 1:26). And the Lord God formed man of the dust of the ground, and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life; and man became a living soul (Genesis 2:7). So God created man in his own image, in the image of God created he him; male and female created he them. And God blessed them, and God said unto them, Be fruitful, and multiply, and replenish the earth, and subdue it: and have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over every living thing that moveth upon the earth (Genesis 1:27-28).

God created this man, named him Adam and gave him dominion over the earth. Genesis 3:8 says that God and Adam walked together in the cool of the day. God created Adam in His exact likeness and image because He wanted Adam to be on His level, able to walk and talk with Him in sweet fellowship. He offered Adam the very highest kind of life—to be His family in the earth. Adam was instructed to subdue the earth and replenish it with beings in *his* own image, which had been created in the image and likeness of God.

God gave only one requirement to Adam: "Of every tree of the garden thou mayest freely eat: But of the tree of the knowledge of good and evil, thou shalt not eat of it: for in the day that thou eatest thereof thou shalt surely die" (Genesis 2:16-17).

The only thing God required from Adam was *obedience*, but the day came when he chose to exercise his own will and disobey God's command.

The moment Adam ate of the forbidden tree, the very life of God was cut off from him. Adam, by his disobedience, had made himself subject to and less powerful than God's enemy, Satan. The intimate fellowship, communication and relationship he had so enjoyed with God, was over. When he broke fellowship with God and made Satan his Lord, he was immediately separated from God, and died spiritually just as God had warned. Satan is a dead spirit. Separation from God is spiritual death. He

became separated from God, his spiritual life source.

By disobeying God, Adam chose death as surely as if he had signed a legal document saying, "I choose death." Because of his disobedience, the future of the world was affected—all of Adam's seed were born into this world with the nature of sin instead of righteousness—with the nature of Satan instead of the nature of God. Adam had committed high treason against God and Satan became his master. Disobedience and rebellion became dominant in the earth. Sin put man in opposition to the thoughts and ways of God. Thus, through one man's disobedience, death reigned. "For if by one man's offence death reigned by one; much more they which receive abundance of grace and of the gift of righteousness shall reign in life by one, Jesus Christ" (Romans 5:17).

Something had to be done. God had given Adam dominion over the earth and Adam, by disobedience, had made himself subject to and less powerful than God's enemy, Satan. It would take time for God to provide the way back for man to come into union and agreement with Him again. But He would do it!

Even in the Garden of Eden, God knew what price He must pay, but He was willing to pay it to get His family back. He said to Satan: "I will put enmity between thee and the woman, and between thy seed and her seed; it shall bruise thy head, and thou shalt bruise his heel" (Genesis 3:15). He was willing to sacrifice His only Son to bring man back into fellowship with Himself: "For God so loved the world, that he gave his only begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in him should not perish, but have everlasting life" (John 3:16).

Adam met disaster because of disobedience. He was separated from the life of God and exiled from the perfect environment God had created for him.

And to Adam, God said, "Because you listened to your wife and ate the fruit when I told you not to, I have placed a curse upon the soil. All your life you will struggle to extract a living from it. It will grow thorns and thistles for you, and you shall eat its grasses. All your life you will sweat to master it, until your dying day. Then you will return to the ground from which you came. For you were made from the ground, and to the ground you will return."...Then the Lord said, "Now that the man has become as we are, knowing good from bad, what if he eats the fruit of the Tree of Life and lives forever?" So the Lord God

banished him forever from the Garden of Eden, and sent him out to farm the ground from which he had been taken. Thus God expelled him, and placed mighty angels at the east of the Garden of Eden, with a flaming sword to guard the entrance to the Tree of Life (Genesis 3:17-19,22-24, The Living Bible).

Moreover, because of Adam's disobedience, sin and death *passed to all of Adam's offspring*, "For as by one man's disobedience many were made sinners..." (*Romans 5:19*).

What a price Adam and his family paid because of disobedience!

Enoch

And Enoch walked [in habitual fellowship] with God; and he was not, for God took him [home with Him] (Genesis 5:24, The Amplified Bible).

Enoch diligently heeded the voice of the Lord. In the New Testament book of Hebrews, he is described clearly:

By faith Enoch was conveyed to another place [namely, heaven], with the result that he did not see death, and he was not found because God had conveyed him to another place [heaven]. For before his removal [from earth to heaven] he had witness borne [to him], that testimony still being on record, to the effect that he pleased God (Hebrews 11:5, Wuest).

Enoch walked with God. He pleased God. And then God took him! Did you get that? Enoch walked so closely with God that one day he just didn't come back! He was so close to God, because of his obedience to God, that he didn't die a natural death. He was lifted right into heaven.

Can you, as a new creature in Christ Jesus, say you have pleased God and walked with Him so closely that you could be lifted right up to heaven? If you are born again and alive when Jesus returns, that is what is in store for you. Enoch, being translated out of an evil world, typifies the saints (the glorious Church) who will soon be removed from this earth, who will be changed from mortality to immortality, without their bodies passing through the grave (1 Corinthians 15:51-54).

Enoch is an inspiring example of walking with God.

Noah

Throughout the ages God's Spirit continually has striven with a wicked people. At more than one point God was close to annihilating the entire human race. Noah is an example of how obedience saved mankind from being destroyed from the face of the earth.

And God saw that the wickedness of man was great in the earth, and that every imagination of the thoughts of his heart was only evil continually. And it repented the Lord that he had made man on the earth, and it grieved him at his heart. And the Lord said, I will destroy man whom I have created from the face of the earth; both man, and beast...for it repenteth me that I have made them (Genesis 6:5-7).

But He remembered Noah. Noah became the man of the hour. "But Noah found grace in the eyes of the Lord.... Noah was a just man and perfect in his generations, and Noah walked with God" (Genesis 6:8-9).

One man saved the human race—one man who dared to be obedient to God. Noah was the last righteous man on earth. God waited as long as He could. He waited until there was only one righteous man left. Think about that!

Thank God, Noah did not do like many people today and say, "There is just too much pressure for me to live in this evil generation. After all, I'm only one man. What can I do?"

Noah heard the voice of the Lord and he obeyed. God said, "Build an ark," so Noah built an ark. The people around him scoffed and made fun of him, but that did not stop Noah. Walking in obedience to God was more important to him than what other people had to say.

In Genesis 7, God said to Noah, "Come thou and all thy house into the ark; for thee have I seen righteous before me in this generation" (verse 1). "And Noah did according unto all that the Lord commanded him" (verse 5). Because of one man's obedience, the entire human race and the animal kingdom were saved from destruction. And they went into the ark with Noah, two and two of all flesh, in which there was the breath and spirit of life. And they that entered, male and female of all flesh, went in as God had commanded [Noah]; and the Lord shut him

in and closed [the door] round about him (Genesis 7:15-16, The Amplified Bible).

The future of the race of man was in Noah's hands. He was faithful to do all that God asked of him. He and his family were supernaturally preserved because he obeyed God.

While we are on this earth, evil circumstances will try to rush in like a flood and overcome us. But as long as we are walking in obedience, God will make an ark around us for protection. He will shut the door to evil and nothing can open it. The same principle will work in reverse when we disobey God. The door will close, only this time in front of us, keeping us outside, unable to live the kind of life God wants us to live.

Abraham

Faith is believing God's Word enough to act on it. James 2:26 says, "...faith without works is dead also." Weymouth says, "For just as a human body without a spirit is lifeless, so also faith is lifeless without obedience." Faith is acting on God's Word.

Abraham is a great example of obedience and faith. In Genesis 12:1, God told Abraham to get out of his country and go away from his relatives to a land that He would show him:

Now the Lord had said unto Abram, Get thee out of thy country, and from thy kindred, and from thy father's house, unto a land that I will show thee: And I will make of thee a great nation, and I will bless thee, and make thy name great; and thou shalt be a blessing.

Verse 4 of this chapter then says, "So Abram departed, as the Lord had spoken unto him...."

When the Lord told Abraham that he would have seed as numerous as the stars, the Bible says, "And he believed in the Lord; and he counted it to him for righteousness" (Genesis 15:6). Abraham and Sarah had never been able to have children, even in their youth. The same day God promised him seed, He made a covenant with Abraham (whose name at the time was Abram) declaring "unto thy seed have I given this land..." (Genesis 15:18).

Later God changed his name from Abram to Abraham which meant "father of many nations." Therefore, every time Abraham declared his new name saying, "I am Abraham," he was declaring, "I am the father of many nations!"

Isaac was the result of Abraham's believing what God said to him, even though it was a natural impossibility for him to have a *son. Romans 4:3 says*, "...Abraham believed God and it was counted unto him for righteousness."

For the promise, that he should be the heir of the world, was not to Abraham, or to his seed, through the law, but through the righteousness of faith. Therefore it is of faith, that it might be by grace; to the end the promise might be sure to all the seed; not to that only which is of the law, but to that also which is of the faith of Abraham; who is the father of us all, (As it is written, I have made thee a father of many nations,) before him whom he believed, even God, who quickeneth the dead, and calleth

those things which be not as though they were. Who against hope believed in hope, that he might become the father of many nations, according to that which was spoken, So shall thy seed be. And being not weak in faith, he considered not his own body now dead, when he was about an hundred years old, neither yet the deadness of Sarah's womb: He staggered not at the promise of God through unbelief; but was strong in faith, giving glory to God; and being fully persuaded that, what he had promised, he was able also to perform (Romans 4:13, 16-21).

Abraham's obedience was promoted by his faith! Because he believed God he was able to hope when, in the natural, there was no hope that he would become the father of many nations. He didn't consider his own body, even though naturally speaking it was too old to produce children. Or that Sarah was not only past childbearing age, but also that she had never been able to bear children.

But God gave Abraham a promise. God made a covenant with him and that is what Abraham believed. In other words, Abraham didn't believe what he saw, but he believed what God said. The Word says he did not "stagger at the promise of God." He did not give place to unbelief. He was strong in faith and fully persuaded that God was able to perform what He had promised.

Throughout his life, God appeared to Abraham at different times and told him exactly what to do. Genesis 17:1-2 says:

And when Abram was ninety years old and nine, the Lord appeared to Abram, and said unto him, I am the Almighty God; walk before me, and be thou perfect [upright]. And I will make my covenant between me and thee, and will multiply thee exceedingly.

So Abraham obeyed God's voice and followed His directions. The following passage from *The Amplified Bible* is a picture of Abraham's *total obedience* to the Father:

[Urged on] by faith Abraham when he was called, obeyed and went forth to a place which he was destined to receive as an inheritance; and he went, although he did not know or trouble his mind about where he was to go. [Prompted] by faith he dwelt as a temporary resident in the land which was

designated in the promise [of God, though he was as a stranger] in a strange country, living in tents with Isaac and Jacob, fellow heirs with him of the same promise. For he was waiting expectantly and confidently, looking forward to the city which has fixed and firm foundations, whose Architect and Builder is God (Hebrews 11:8-10, The Amplified Bible).

By the supernatural power of God Sarah bore Abraham a son named Isaac. God gave Abraham the ultimate test as a father: to offer up his son Isaac on the altar. Look at this through Abraham's eyes for a moment. Isaac was the son through whom he was to be the father of many nations. How could he do it? There was only one way—by faith.

By faith Abraham, when he was put to the test—that is, while the testing of his faith was still in progress—had already brought Isaac for an offering; he who had gladly received and welcomed [God's] promises was ready to sacrifice his only son, of whom it was said, Through Isaac shall your descendants be reckoned. For he reasoned that God was able to raise [him] up even from among the dead. Indeed in the sense that Isaac was figuratively dead (potentially sacrificed), he did [actually] receive him back from the dead (Hebrews 11:17-19, The Amplified Bible).

Just as Abraham raised the knife to slay Isaac, the angel of the *Lord called out to him and said,* "Lay not thine hand upon the lad, neither do thou any thing unto him: for now I know that thou fearest God, seeing thou hast not withheld thy son, thine only son from me" (Genesis 22:12).

Then Abraham saw a ram caught in a thicket. He took the ram and offered it as a sacrifice to the Lord in place of his son. God found in Abraham a man who would obey Him to the degree of giving up his son

Through Abraham's life we see a picture of God's love for you and me. Just as Abraham didn't withhold his son from God, neither did God withhold His only begotten Son, Jesus, from us. He sent Jesus into the world and allowed Him to die on the cross so the world could be redeemed. And just as Abraham received back his son from the dead, God received back His only begotten Son when Jesus was raised from the dead.

Just as Abraham demonstrated faith as a father,

so Isaac demonstrated faith as a son—willing to be offered as a sacrifice without a struggle. He was not a small child, he could have protested. But he had been trained in the way he should go—to *obey* his father in *all* things.

During his life, the Lord spoke to him as He had to his father Abraham. The Lord appeared to Isaac when he was grown, years after he was spared his life.

Go not down into Egypt; dwell in the land which I shall tell thee of: Sojourn in this land, and I will be with thee, and will bless thee; for unto thee, and unto thy seed, I will give all these countries, and I will perform the oath which I sware unto Abraham thy father; And I will make thy seed to multiply as the stars of heaven, and will give unto thy seed all these countries; and in thy seed shall all the nations of the earth be blessed; Because that Abraham obeyed my voice, and kept my charge, my commandments, my statutes, and my laws (Genesis 26:2-5).

God performed His oath to Isaac because Abraham had obeyed His voice and kept His commandments. Obedience was the condition of the oath. Had Abraham not obeyed God, He would not have fulfilled His promise. Had Isaac not obeyed God, disobedience would have stopped the promise in his life.

Isaac and his seed were Abraham's seed and heirs according to the promise. If we are in Christ, we are also heirs according to the promise. The Apostle Paul wrote to the churches of Galatia:

Christ hath redeemed us from the curse of the law, being made a curse for us: for it is written, Cursed is every one that hangeth on a tree: That the blessing of Abraham might come on the Gentiles through Jesus Christ; that we might receive the promise of the Spirit through faith.... For ye are all the children of God by faith in Christ Jesus. For as many of you as have been baptized into Christ have put on Christ. There is neither Jew nor Greek, there is neither bond nor free, there is neither male nor female: for ye are all one in Christ Jesus. And if ye be Christ's, then are ye Abraham's seed, and heirs according to the promise (Galatians 3:13-14, 26-29).

Jesus came to redeem Abraham's seed. God sees the Church, as well as Abraham's natural descendants, as that seed. We have been grafted in through faith in Jesus Christ, the Anointed. It is our blood-bought right through Him.

However, our obedience determines how much of Abraham's blessing is manifested in our lives. That is a choice we must make. Am I going to be faithful to God and obey Him? Yes! At all costs!

Moses—the Deliverer

Moses is an exciting example of one who dared to obey God. The hand of God was upon him from birth. He performed many miracles in the life of Moses during his 120-year walk on the earth.

It was a miracle when the Egyptian princess retrieved 3-month-old Moses from a tiny ark of bulrushes on the edge of the Nile River.

It was a miracle when the princess, knowing Moses to be Hebrew, adopted him at the very time the Pharaoh decreed all male Hebrew babies to be killed.

It was a miracle that Moses' adoptive mother chose his natural mother to nurse him in her own home.

Later, as an adult, Moses killed an Egyptian for beating a Hebrew slave and fled into Egypt to settle in the land of Midian. There he had his first encounter with God.

Leading the Children of Israel

The angel of the Lord appeared to him and said:

I am the God of thy father, the God of Abraham, the God of Isaac, and the God of Jacob. And Moses hid his face; for he was afraid to look upon God. And the Lord said, I have surely seen the affliction of my people which are in Egypt, and have heard their cry by reason of their taskmasters; for I know their sorrows; and I am come down to deliver them out of the hand of the Egyptians, and to bring them up out of that land unto a good land and a large, unto a land flowing with milk and honey; unto the place of the Canaanites, and the Hittites, and the Amorites, and the Perizzites, and the Hivites, and the Jebusites (Exodus 3:6-8).

In the next verses, God told Moses to go back to Egypt and lead the children of Israel out of bondage. God gave him detailed instructions about what to do and what to say to Pharaoh and the Israelites. After some protest concerning his suitability for the job, Moses obeyed God and was faithful. His obedience brought results (Hebrews 3:5). (One exception to this is found in Numbers 20. It kept Moses from entering into the Promised Land.)

When the Israelites were delivered safely out of Egypt and were camped in the wilderness, God called Moses to Mount Sinai and said:

Thus shalt thou say to the house of Jacob, and tell the children of Israel; ye have seen what I did unto the Egyptians, and how I bare you on eagles' wings, and brought you unto myself. Now therefore, if ye will obey my voice indeed, and keep my covenant, then ye shall be a peculiar treasure unto me above all people: for all the earth is mine: And ye shall be unto me a kingdom of priests, and an holy nation. These are the words which thou shalt speak unto the children of Israel (Exodus 19:3-6).

God said if they would obey His voice, they would be His peculiar treasure in the earth—a nation set apart from all others, set on high above all the earth. God wanted Israel to be a nation of priests unto Him. He wanted to set them apart, so He could come into their midst and live among them. They were to

be His special treasure.

You can see throughout the history of the nation of Israel that when Israel served Him with their whole heart—in obedience—He was wholly and totally God to them. He performed in their lives, whether it was with signs and wonders, with miracles, or whether it was with His angels going before them in battle. Whatever it took, when they served Him with their whole heart, He was there with His whole heart.

But when they were disobedient and didn't serve Him at all, He did not work in their lives.

Moses later said to the nation of Israel:

Behold, I have taught you statutes and ordinances as the Lord my God commanded me, that you should do them in the land which you are entering to possess. So keep them and do them; for that is your wisdom and your understanding in the sight of the peoples, who, when they hear all these statutes, will say, Surely this great nation is a wise and understanding people (Deuteronomy 4:5-6, The Amplified Bible).

What was to make them a great nation, a wise and understanding people? *Keeping God's Word*—His ordinances and statutes.

It was keeping God's Word, His wisdom and understanding, that set Israel apart from other nations, showing them how to be the special people of God—a peculiar treasure. In Exodus 19:5 He *said to Moses about Israel*, "Now therefore, if you will obey My voice in truth and keep My covenant, then you shall be My own peculiar possession and treasure from among and above all peoples; for all the earth is Mine" (The Amplified Bible).

Later, in Deuteronomy 4:10, Moses said, "...the Lord said unto me, Gather me the people together, and I will make them hear my words, that they may learn to fear me all the days that they shall live upon the earth, and that they may teach their children."

When God said He wanted His people to fear Him, He did not mean for them to be afraid. He wanted them to have reverence and respect for Him, so they would be obedient to His Word. He did not want them to keep His Word just so He could have slaves. He knew that the only way they could be kept free from the curse on the earth was by obeying His Word.

Two Ways Israel Obeyed

God dealt with the Israelites in two ways: *He told them to* keep His statutes and ordinances, and He told them to obey His voice.

Throughout all generations God never intended for His people to have only the written ordinances. If they would listen and obey the statutes and ordinances, they would also have His voice coming to them telling them what to do. There were times when God spoke to Israel regarding specific situations. He told them what to do to get victory because He was their God and they were His people.

As long as they obeyed His voice, no enemy could stand before them. There might be many standing against them who were stronger in the natural realm, but that did not matter. As long as they obeyed the voice of the Lord, He moved supernaturally and they walked in victory because God was with them.

But this thing commanded I them, saying, Obey my voice, and I will be your God, and ye shall be my people: and walk ye in all the ways that I have commanded you, that it may be well unto you (Jeremiah 7:23).

The Father was continually telling Israel, "I will be your God. I will take care of you. I will meet all your needs. Just obey My voice and keep My Word." Isaiah 1:19 says, "If ye be willing and obedient, ye shall eat the good of the land."

In the same way, God can only go as far as we'll go with Him. God says in 1 Samuel 2:30, "...them that honour me I will honour, and they that despise me shall be lightly esteemed." How much you honor God in your life is how much God can honor you. Whatever area you hold back from Him, in whatever area you are disobedient, that is the area He can't bless. You've closed the door to Him in that area because of your disobedience. As we continue our study of obedience, we'll see that all through His Word God makes it very clear that if we want things to go well for us in this earth we must choose to obey what He says. God's way is the only way that liberates us from bondage into victory.

2. God Gives Us A Choice

God has always had to deal with a disobedient people. That has been His reward for His goodness and His mercy. He called out to generation after generation in love and mercy:

> ...Hear ye the words of this covenant, and do them. For I earnestly protested unto your fathers in the day that I brought them up out of the land of Egypt, even unto this day, rising early and protesting, saying, Obey my voice (Jeremiah 11:6-7).

"I earnestly protested and pleaded with the fathers. I rose up early and told them to obey My voice." That is what God has done through the generations. He has continually tried to get His very best to His people, His special treasure.

He said, "I rose up early. I protested. I pleaded. I proclaimed, 'Obey My voice.'"

"Yet they obeyed not, nor inclined their ear, but walked every one in the imagination of their evil heart" (Jeremiah 11:8).

Let's look at Deuteronomy 5:29. Here the heart of God is saying once again, "O that there were such an heart in them, that they would fear me, and keep all my commandments always, that it might be well with them, and with their children for ever!"

This is the heart of God yearning over His special people, yearning over the people He formed for Himself. Although we are not in the same position as Israel was, God is in the same position with us where our obedience to the new covenant is concerned.

For I will take you from among the heathen, and gather you out of all countries, and will bring you into your own land. Then will I sprinkle clean water upon you, and ye shall be clean: from all your filthiness, and from all your idols, will I cleanse you. A new heart also will I give you, and a new spirit will I put within you: and I will take away the stony heart [of death] out of your flesh, and I will give you an heart of flesh. And I will put my spirit within you, and cause you to walk in my statutes, and ye shall keep my judgments, and do them. And ye shall dwell in the land that I gave to your fathers; and ye shall be my people, and I will be your God (Ezekiel 36:24-

He said He would put a new heart in them. You and I have that new heart if we've made Jesus Lord of our lives. We not only have a new heart, but we also have God's Spirit dwelling in us to teach us to walk in His ways and give us individual guidance. When we come before the Lord on that great day for our rewards, we will have no excuse for not fulfilling His will. He has put a new spirit in us. His Spirit within us teaches us, counsels us and manifests the presence of Jesus in us.

The Cost of an Un-renewed Mind

I want you to see some things that have cost us God's best. We have had problems in our lives because our minds were not renewed to the goodness of God.

Proverbs 19:3 in *The Amplified Bible* says, "The foolishness of man subverts his way [ruins his affairs]; then his heart is resentful and frets against the Lord." This is so true. By going our own way, we get ourselves into trouble. Then we say, "Why did You do this to me, God?"

If we have continual defeat, God is not the one who has failed. We are the ones who have missed it. God's Word works. But if we walk in darkness, instead of in the light of His Word, God's blessings will be hindered. The Church as a whole has done this. The Church has known so little about the truth of God. We have been just barely in the spiritual twilight zone when we could have been walking in the light. But God is not at fault.

Long ago when I first began to walk in faith, I learned that no matter what it looks like or what people tell me about their problems and their situations, God is not the one who has failed. Early in his ministry Ken conducted a meeting in what at that time was the largest church he had ever preached in. This church had a member who had died of an incurable disease.

When Ken preached the Word, the integrity of God's Word, that you can count on God's Word, that faith works, the church members said, "Well it didn't work here!"

Maybe they didn't say it in those particular words, but that in essence is what they said. They let us know that a man in their congregation had done everything he was supposed to—and he still died. They told us a number of things regarding his spiritual life. They mentioned that his confessions were good and so on.

So what were these people really saying? "That this man was right, and God was wrong."

In Malachi we see God speaking strong words to Israel regarding this:

"Your words have been stout against me, saith the Lord. Yet ye say, What have we spoken so much against thee? Ye have said, It is vain to serve God: and what profit is it that we have kept his ordinance, and that we have walked mournfully before the Lord of hosts? (Malachi 3:13-14).

"Your words are stout against Me!" God says.

Well, this really bothered me. I mean, I was new at this and they were telling me that he had done *all* the right things. They said he was a faith man. And he died! He was acting on the Word. And he died!

Have you ever heard that? Or been faced with that situation in your church, your family?

Well, the Lord taught me a great deal out of that situation. Another man for whom I have great respect said that he had gone to pray for this man. He went every day for a while and interceded for him. And he prayed the presence of Jesus into the man's room.

When Jesus appeared in that room the man who was dying jumped out of bed (he couldn't get out of bed by himself before) and knelt at Jesus' feet. As Jesus reached out to touch the man, he pulled away and dropped back.

He began to say, "I can't. I can't. I'm just not worthy." Now the man who had been interceding was watching all of this, and he turned his gaze to Jesus. Jesus looked back at him and said, "See there, he won't let Me heal him."

Do you see what happened here? No doubt this was a good man. He had loved and served God, but religious tradition held him captive. Those church members were just sure he had done everything right. And maybe he did—except have his mind renewed to the Word of God. It's so important that we receive Who God really is—a God of mercy and compassion, a God Whose will is to heal and deliver and set free.

You have to trust God. Don't shut Him off in your mind with traditions of men, unbelief, fear and sin. If you let sin or unbelief condemn you so that you don't have any faith that God will move on your behalf, God can't help you. You shut Him off. The man said, "I can't receive. I'm too unworthy." Pentecostal, religious tradition kept him from receiving the power of God, even though Jesus was in his room to heal him.

I learned something very valuable from Jesse Winley, a great pastor from Harlem. "Don't ever put the righteousness of God up against anybody." That's good advice. God is never wrong. If things aren't working, we need to consider our ways, not God's. If

we are disobedient, we need to make adjustments. If not, we need to walk by faith and not by sight until circumstances change.

Which Group Are You In?

"And now we call the proud happy; yea, they that work wickedness are set up; yea, they that tempt God are even delivered. Then they that feared the Lord spake often one to another: and the Lord hearkened, and heard it, and a book of remembrance was written before him for them that feared the Lord, and that thought upon his name. And they shall be mine, saith the Lord of hosts, in that day when I make up my jewels; and I will spare them, as a man spareth his own son that serveth him. Then shall ye return, and discern between the righteous and the wicked, between him that serveth God and him that serveth him not (Malachi 3:15-18).

The Lord hears when we talk to one another. He knows those who have respect and honor for Him. And He knows those who don't.

You can be in either group. We can be in the first group who has words that are stout against God. Or, we can be in the second group who fears God and speaks often about His goodness and His mercy. God told Israel in Exodus 19:5 if they would obey His voice and keep His covenant, they would be His peculiar treasure, or His special treasure, above all others in the earth. Here He refers to them as jewels. We think of treasure as gold and jewels. God's treasure is an obedient people. He paves His streets with gold, but He is able to achieve His dream for His family with a people who know and obey Him. You can be that treasure to Him. It is your choice.

You have to be willing *and* obedient in order to walk in victory (Isaiah 1:19). If you are just talking a good game, but not doing the Word, you are not being willing and obedient. You have to be willing and obedient to walk in the blessing of God.

Isaiah 3 shows us the contrast between the righteous and the wicked. (Remember, God does not condemn the righteous with the wicked. He appeared to the righteous Lot and got him out of Sodom and Gomorrah.)

"Say ye to the righteous, that it shall be well with him: for they shall eat the fruit of their doings. Woe unto the wicked! it shall be ill with him: for the reward of his hands shall be given him" (Isaiah 3:10-11).

God makes a difference between the righteous and the wicked, between the obedient and the disobedient. He is no respecter of persons (Acts 10:34), but He is a respecter of obedience and faith. He makes a difference between those who obey Him and those who do not.

The whole world could be in trouble and without any resources or abilities, while the Church—if we are obedient to God—would have plenty. Psalm 91:7 says, "A thousand shall fall at thy side, and ten thousand at thy right hand; but it shall not come nigh thee."

The blessings of God cannot flow to us when we are living in disobedience, even if we are born-again, Spirit-filled Christians. Because of a low level of obedience and spiritual maturity, the Church has just barely scratched the surface of the blessings of God.

God wants us to live in the earth like we were *already* in heaven. Jesus taught the disciples to pray "Thy will be done in earth, as it is in heaven" (Matthew 6:10). Deuteronomy 11 talks about the Lord giving days of heaven upon the earth. Wherever we walk, the kingdom of heaven should be manifested and in control. In many ways we are like little children, but we are growing and beginning to hear and to see the hope of our calling, and our inheritance in the saints in light (Ephesians 4:4; Colossians 1:12).

We already are born again. We are created in the image of God. We are citizens of that place called heaven. The kingdom of God is in us. The Spirit of God lives in us. He is here to take dominion now. Yet, if we do not walk with Him, obey Him and get our minds renewed to what He says, we give Him no place to move in our lives. We shut Him out and do not allow Him to take dominion in the earth through us. The dominion Jesus exercises in the earth is through His Body. He is the Head; we are the Body.

God has always desired to do mighty things in the earth, to overwhelm this world with His presence, to dwell in the midst of His people. He has always desired to manifest Himself. He has been waiting generation after generation for a people who would find out what He is like, believe His Word and dare to walk in it—a people who would know Him and comprehend Him, a people who would walk and talk and act like the Father and the Son.

"May He grant you out of the rich treasury of His glory to be strengthened and reinforced with mighty power in the inner man by the

(Holy) Spirit [Himself]—indwelling your innermost being and personality. May Christ through your faith [actually] dwell—settle down, abide, make His permanent home-in your hearts! May you be rooted deep in love and founded securely on love, that you may have the power and be strong to apprehend and grasp with all the saints (God's devoted people, the experience of that love) what is the breadth and length and height and depth [of it]; that you may really come] to knowpractically, through experience for vourselves the love of Christ, which far surpasses mere knowledge (without experience); that you may be filled (through all your being) unto all the fullness of God—[that is] may have the richest measure of the divine Presence, and become a body wholly filled and flooded with God Himself! Now to Him Who, by (in consequence of) the [action of His] power that is at work within us, is able to [carry out His purpose and] do superabundantly, far over and above all that we [dare] ask or think—infinitely beyond our highest prayers, desires, thoughts, hopes or dreams—To Him be glory in the church and in Christ Jesus through out all generations, for ever and ever. Amen—so be it" (Ephesians 3:16-21, The Amplified Bible).

I believe with all my heart that His Church is rising up glorious in our day. His Body is coming to the place for which He has waited thousands of years. As we make ourselves available to God and obey Him, He will be able to manifest Himself in the earth as He has yearned to do.

So choose to be in the right group. Join in with those who fear God, who speak of His goodness and mercy, who honor and respect Him. Choose to allow Him in every part of your life... and watch His goodness unfold!

3. Jesus Our Example

If you want to walk in obedience and receive God's goodness, I have good news for you. God wants to be God to you in a very personal and intimate way. He wants to be God in the Church. He wants to be God in your individual life. But He can only be God to you as far as you will follow Him.

As we have already learned God waited and waited for a people who would be obedient to Him, so that He could be God to them, manifesting His presence and glory. Finally, in the New Testament, one man fulfilled His call. One man was *absolutely* obedient. His Name is Jesus.

Jesus, the Son of God, came into the world to fulfill the perfect will of God. He stripped Himself of His heavenly privileges and was born of a woman. He took upon Himself flesh. The Holy Spirit hovered over Mary and conceived in her a holy thing. Because God was His Father, and not man, Jesus was born without sin

The life of God was in Him instead of spiritual death. But Jesus did not just come into this world saying, "Look at Me— I'm the Son of Almighty God," and then live anyway He wanted.

The thing that set Jesus apart and qualified Him to pay the price was His living as a man without sin. Yet when the time came, He was willing to lay down His own life and take sin into Himself for you and me. "For he hath made him to be sin for us, who knew no sin; that we might be made the righteousness of God in him" (2 Corinthians 5:21).

Had Jesus lived in the earth after His own will, He would never have gone to the cross. But Jesus did not live in the earth after His own will. When faced with death—separation from God— He changed His will in the Garden of Gethsemane to agree with God's will. Why? Because He knew the scriptures. He knew the Spirit of God. He knew His Father. He had the knowledge of God Who said, "Keep My statutes and ordinances. Keep My Word and obey My voice."

Do God's Will

"Then answered Jesus and said unto them, Verily, verily, I say unto you, The Son can do nothing of himself, but what he seeth the Father do: for what things soever he doeth, these also doeth the Son likewise" (John 5:19).

Jesus said He could do nothing of Himself. He did not try. He did not even want to do anything of Himself. He did only what He saw the Father do.

In John 5:30 Jesus said it again:

"I am able to do nothing from Myself—independently, of My own accord—but as I am taught by God and as I get His orders. [I decide as I am bidden to decide. As the voice comes to Me, so I give a decision.] Even as I hear, I judge and My judgment is right (just, righteous), because I do not seek or consult My own will—I have no desire to do what is pleasing to Myself, My own aim, My own purpose—but only the will and pleasure of the Father Who sent Me." (The Amplified Bible).

Jesus obeyed the Father. He did not make His own decisions, but lived absolutely obedient to the voice of God. He was totally submitted to His Father.

You see, Jesus understood the difference between following after the soul (mind, will, emotions) and following after the spirit. He could have followed after His soul, but He counted that as nothing. Compared to walking after the spirit, that is exactly what walking after the soul is—nothing. You and I just do not know enough to walk after our natural thinking. That is why God gave us His Holy Spirit—to teach us to think like He thinks, to reveal His Word to us (Isaiah 55:7-11; John 14:26).

Jesus knew the written statutes and ordinances of the scriptures, but He also knew and operated by the voice of the Lord. He spent time in prayer with the Father: "What shall I do? What shall I say?" He always obeyed the Father's direction. "Not my will be done but yours, O Lord."

You and I not only have the written Word, but we have the guidance of the Holy Spirit within us. The Word has been given to us to teach us and train us in God's ways and precepts, but also we need answers in our individual lives: "What am I supposed to do about this problem? What am I supposed to do today?

What can I do today, Lord, to please You?"

Jesus knew the written Word of God, and He operated by the voice of God. The two always agree.

In John 5:46 Jesus said, "For had ye believed Moses, ye would have believed me: for he wrote of me." If He had been dealing with the people who knew the books of Moses, they would have believed Jesus when He came, because Moses wrote of Jesus. But He said, "If ye believe not his writings, how shall ye believe my words?" (John 5:47).

Unless we believe the written Word of God, we won't follow the voice of the Holy Spirit telling us what to do. We won't believe the Spirit of God as He speaks to us, unless by the written Word we know His ways. God's ways are so high above our natural ways.

We must have the written Word in our hearts so we can learn to discipline ourselves to make the right choices and live our lives according to the Word of God. Then when the Spirit of God tells us to do something, we will be quick to recognize it as God leading us because we already know how God thinks.

When we walk with God, we must totally learn to rethink our lives because the world's way—the way we first learned to think—is foolishness to God. The world is in darkness and is backward compared to what God says and knows. *The Amplified Bible* says that the whole world around us is under the power of the evil one (1 John 5:19).

Because of this, you and I are faced with a decision. We can live in either of the two realms—the natural or the supernatural. We are born again in the spirit, so we can walk in the spirit, or we can walk after our soul (mind, will, emotions—or natural thinking). We can acknowledge God in all our ways and lean not to our own understanding, or we can continue to live like the rest of the world in permanent defeat until we leave this earth. But why choose what the world chooses when we can walk with God?

God is searching our hearts to see what is inside us. He is searching for a people who will do what He says and be dedicated to Him. Jesus is loyal to God. He lives His life for God. This same Jesus lives in us. We are His Body. He is endeavoring to get us to live totally for God. He does it. We are to do it, too.

Jesus said, "For I came down from heaven, not to do mine own will, but the will of him that sent me" (John 6:38). When He was on the earth, He did not

live His life for Himself. He lived it loving God with His whole heart, soul and might.

Keeping the Word and obeying God's voice, Jesus also said, "And he that sent me is with me: the Father hath not left me alone; for I do always those things that please him" (John 8:29). Don't you know it was a delight to the Father's heart to see a man in the earth keep His Word, obey His voice and live life totally for Him? Likewise, our Father wants this to be the word of the Church today: "I do always those things that please Him."

But we need to change. And change starts with individuals—with you and me. We are members of the Body, but members in particular. God wants us to be able to honestly say, "I do always the things that please Him."

It is important to understand that Jesus laid down His life before He ever went to the cross. During His time on earth He continually laid down His life to please God. Do you think He lived an unhappy life? Did He miss out on very much because He did not seek His own will or His own interests? Did He pay too great a price to walk pleasing to God as far as the rewards of this life are concerned? Of course not!

Did He fail at anything? Yes! He never got around to committing a sin, never experienced sickness, never knew defeat. Just think how much He missed! Would you miss much if you walked the earth as Jesus did with such power, anointing and glory? No, you wouldn't miss a thing. You would walk in that same high life. God is trying to get blessings to you, and this is the way they will come to you unhindered, and in full measure—by your being obedient to the Lord and by doing what you are told to do.

Jesus walked in total victory. He put Satan down at every turn. Satan could not touch Him because Jesus was allowing God to be God in His life. The Father was an enemy to His enemy, and a friend to His friend.

Because Jesus kept God's Word and obeyed His voice, God could manifest His power through Him without measure. Jesus did not even speak His own words. Everywhere He went, if they would receive Him, He made the blind to see, the lame to walk, the deaf to hear. He delivered those who were demon possessed. The wind and the sea obeyed His voice. Every need He had was met by God's power and action.

A Unified Church

In order for God to be God in the Church like He so desires to be, we've got to obey the Word of God and follow after the voice of His Spirit. According to John 10:15-16, that is the key to a unified Body. If we can get into agreement with God, then we can get into agreement with each other: "As the Father knoweth me, even so know I the Father: and I lay down my life for the sheep. And other sheep I have, which are not of this fold: them also I must bring, and they shall hear my voice; and there shall be one fold, and one shepherd."

No matter where we come from or where we are in the earth, we can be united with each other. You can be on one side of the world, praying, walking in the written Word, listening to the voice of the Holy Spirit. I can be on the other side, praying, walking in the written Word, listening to the Spirit. Regardless of our location, we can be in agreement. We can be one spirit with the Lord and with each other.

If we do this, then we'll be walking under the direction of one person—Jesus. He is the Head. Our responsibility is to choose to walk in obedience so He can tell me what to do here, and can give you the same instruction there. We *can* flow together in the Spirit, even though we may not know one another—if we are walking in obedience to His Word and the Spirit.

The Holy Spirit is in us to bring us into this unity of the faith and into the image of the Son of God. We have been predestinated to be conformed to His image (Romans 8:29). There *shall* be one fold and one Shepherd! Jesus said, "My sheep hear my voice, and I know them, and they follow me" (John 10:27).

Oh, we have such adventure ahead of us! We have been living in the low life of this natural realm, when we could be walking in the Spirit. As God gives us revelation, we are able to walk in the spiritual realm with Him. He is revealing things to our generation to bring us to that place. He has made a way to help us be successful.

Spending Time With Our Father

Think of how Jesus spent time with His Father during His earthly ministry. He would get up a great while before daylight so He could pray. He would spend a whole night in prayer, communicating with His heavenly Father. After Jesus was baptized by John and the Holy Ghost came upon Him and anointed Him, He spent 40 days in the wilderness fasting and praying. Then the Scripture says He left that place in the power of the Holy Spirit.

As a result of His time with the Father, He knew what He was to do and He did it! He perfectly pleased God. Afterward when Satan came to tempt Him, Jesus knew exactly what to do to have victory.

We need to let Him teach us. We need to read His words as if we have never heard them before. Picture in your mind Jesus talking to you now, saying to you the same words He spoke to the disciples.

In Christian circles we have been raised in such a sloppy way with an attitude of "just get born again and live anyway you want to," that it has cost us the blessings God wants to manifest in our midst.

Getting born again is not something you just do so you will miss hell. He tells us to go win the lost, so we do it, but this is not the entire purpose of the Church. Our purpose is to please God—to be His special possession in the earth and do *whatever* He tells us to do. We should cleave unto Him, live in fellowship with Him, and be vitally united with Him. We should spend enough time with Him that we hear and recognize His voice so we *can* be pleasing to Him. When we do that, winning the lost will be the result.

Laying Down Natural Desires

In Matthew 28, Jesus told His disciples to go into all the world and preach the gospel:

"Teaching them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded you..." (verse 20).

In Mark 8, we read one of the most important things that He told them. Read it carefully and receive it in your heart:

"And when he had called the people unto him with his disciples also, he said unto them, Whosoever will come after me, let him deny himself, and take up his cross, and follow me. For whosoever will save his life shall lose it; but whosoever shall lose his life for my sake and the gospel's, the same shall save it" (Mark 8:34-35).

In The Amplified Bible Jesus said it this way:

"If any one intends to come after Me, let him deny himself—forget, ignore, disown, lose sight of himself and his own interests—and take up his cross, and...follow with Me—continually, [that is,] cleave steadfastly to Me. For whoever wants to save his...life, will lose [the lower, natural, temporal life...]; and whoever gives up his life [which is lived (only) on earth], for My sake and the Gospel's, will save [his higher, spiritual life in the eternal kingdom of God]."

Now Jesus not only was talking about our going to heaven, although that is included. He also was talking about our living for Him while in the earth. To live for Him, we cannot cling to our natural lives, or the things our souls desire in the natural realm—ambition, money, recognition, or any other desires of the flesh—things that natural man seeks after with his whole heart.

He was saying, "If you will lay down your natural desires, lose sight of yourself and your own interests, you will lose that lower life. Take up your cross. Do what you are told. Follow Me and you will find that higher life."

The higher life is walking in the spirit, walking with God and walking in victory and power. It is

walking and being ruled by our new reborn nature, filled with the Holy Ghost, even though we are still living in a natural body.

In Luke 18 Jesus tried to get the rich young ruler to follow Him into a higher life, but the man was unable to do it. Now Jesus did not tell everyone He met to sell what they had and give it to the poor, but He said that to the rich young ruler for some reason. The reason probably was the rich young ruler was trusting in his riches instead of God. When put to the test, he cared more for the riches.

It was of prime importance to Jesus to obey whatever the Father asked. When He was in the Garden of Gethsemane, His soul was crying out, knowing He was going to have to endure separation from God. He was so pulled by what was going to happen to Him, He prayed:

"Father, if thou be willing, remove this cup from me: nevertheless not my will, but thine, be done. And being in an agony he prayed more earnestly: and his sweat was as it were great drops of blood falling down to the ground" (Luke 22:42, 44).

God may be telling you what to do. He may be saying, "I want you to spend more time in prayer." Perhaps you have been hearing that for weeks or months and thinking, *I really ought to do that*.

He may be prompting you in your spirit and saying, "I want you to spend more time in My Word." You have thought, *I ought to do that*. Don't put it off. Do what God is telling you. Lay down your natural desires and obey the higher calling of God.

Living the High Life

Contrary to what many Christians think, God does not begin your life of obedience by asking you to do something you're not ready or equipped to do. He's not going to send you to Africa unless you're ready. He will deal with you today, right where you are. If you will follow His leading, He will tell you what you need to do, how you need to change, what effort you need to make for Him, and where you need to go—if anywhere!

He wants us to reach the place where we trust Him, where we know He is wiser than we are, where we are willing to do what He says, whether we understand it with our minds or not. That is called walking in the spirit, living the high life.

If we hold on to our own interests, desires and ambitions—if we fight and strive to perform our own wills in the earth—the Spirit of God will have no opportunity to take us into the higher life. We never will hear His voice speaking to us, or if we hear, we will not obey. We must make the decision to lay down our lives for Him. Jesus said, "If any man intends to come after Me, let him deny himself" (see Matthew 16:24). We must reach that place where we say, "Lord, I'm giving You the rest of my time on earth. I'm living it for You."

I have made that decision in my own life. I have laid down my life before God. (And yet I have to confirm that decision over and over every day as choices are continually laid before me.) My desire is to please God and to do His will. I want to stay in the earth as long as He has work for me to do here. I am determined to run the race God has set before me, to finish my course and do it with joy! Yes, I intend to enjoy it!

But you cannot stay earthly minded and at the same time think about the glory of God, eternity, the kingdom of heaven and the Father.

Before I made this decision, there were certain things I enjoyed doing that interfered with my time with God. Those things, like hobbies for instance, were fun to me. I had to *make* myself go to the Word. Sometimes, because I so enjoyed those other things, I would spend too much time doing them, and my Word time would slide by. I have always been a reasonably disciplined person, so even in those times I stayed in the Word enough to keep my body healed and keep myself together spiritually.

Thank God, I have changed. I once had to make

myself study God's Word and pray. Now when necessary I have to make myself do those other things. My interests have changed. My desires have changed. Why? Because I started paying more attention to Him and living my life for Him. I began to do everything that I felt God wanted me to do. He has taught me about following after my spirit, indwelt by His Spirit, and it has changed my life.

What did Jesus say? "If any man intends to come after Me, let him deny himself." I do not mean that I have arrived. I am just getting started, but I am started

You know, this is a growing process. Growing spiritually is like growing physically. When you were born physically, your mother did not expect you to begin to talk the second day after you were born. But she would have been disappointed if you were still not talking at 5 years of age.

Spiritual things are the same way. You have to walk with God one day at a time, starting where you are today. You cannot start where someone else is. You must start where you are. But you have to start.

You will never grow if you do not give God your time. If you do not spend time in the Word and in prayer, if you do not listen to your spirit, you will never grow. You have to *do* certain things to grow.

All God asks of you is that you begin where you are today. If you do not know God, the first thing you need to do is get born again. Just make Jesus the Lord of your life and say, "I'm starting today." (There's a prayer of salvation at the end of this book to help.) Then start. Keep moving and don't ever stop!

In John 12 we find more of Jesus teaching the disciples:

"The hour is come, that the Son of man should be glorified. Verily, verily, I say unto you, Except a corn of wheat fall into the ground and die, it abideth alone: but if it die, it bringeth forth much fruit. He that loveth his life shall lose it; and he that hateth his life in this world shall keep it unto life eternal. If any man serve me, let him follow me; and where I am, there shall also my servant be: if any man serve me, him will my Father honour" (John 12:23-26).

This is how you get the full blessing of God in your life—serve Jesus and the Father will honor you.

Jesus says in verse 27 in The Amplified Bible, "Now My soul is troubled and distressed, and what shall I say? Father, save me from this hour [of trial and agony]? But it was for this very purpose that I have come to this hour [that I might undergo it]."

Notice that He did not say, "Father save Me from this hour."

He chose instead, "[Rather, I will say,] Father, glorify—honor and extol—Your own name!" (verse 28).

Just like Jesus, this is the place you and I must reach in our own lives. We, too, must say, "Father, glorify Your Name in my life. I give You my life. I give You my heart. I give You the rest of my days on the earth."

Jesus was putting this into the hearts of the disciples. Because we are also His disciples, we must have it too. "So then, whoever of you does not forsake—renounce, surrender claim to, give up, say goodbye to—all that he has cannot be My disciple" (Luke 14:33, The Amplified Bible). These were strong words, but Jesus said them. He was training His men, and He trained them well.

According to *Vine's Expository Dictionary of Biblical Words*, a *disciple* is a learner, one who follows one's teaching." To paraphrase Matthew 10:24-25, Jesus said, "The disciple will not be greater than his master; he will be like his master."

God has great things for those who will be obedient to Him and love Him with their whole hearts.

4. Newness of Life

What shall we say then? Shall we continue in sin, that grace may abound? God forbid. How shall we, that are dead to sin, live any longer therein? Know ye not, that so many of us as were baptized into Jesus Christ were baptized into his death? Therefore we are buried with him by baptism into death: that like as Christ was raised up from the dead by the glory of the Father, even so we also should walk in newness of life. For if we have been planted together in the likeness of his death, we shall be also in the likeness of his resurrection: Knowing this, that our old man is crucified with him, that the body of sin might be destroyed, that henceforth we should not serve sin (Romans 6:1-6).

We can walk in newness of life by the glory of the Father. This newness of life is our capacity and ability for obedience. We are not to walk like the world walks. We do not have to walk in death and defeat. We can walk in life and victory.

What is this newness of life? It is the life we received when we were born again—the life of God Himself.

"Therefore if any man be in Christ, he is a new creature: old things are passed away; behold, all things are become new. And all things are of God, who hath reconciled us to himself by Jesus Christ, and hath given to us the ministry of reconciliation; To wit, that God was in Christ, reconciling the world unto himself, not imputing their trespasses unto them; and hath committed unto us the word of reconciliation. Now then we are ambassadors for Christ, as though God did beseech you by us: we pray you in Christ's stead, be ye reconciled to God. For he hath made him to be sin for us, who knew no sin; that we might be made the righteousness of God in him" (2 Corinthians 5:17-21).

The Amplified Bible says a new creation! A new species of being that never existed before. Like a tree that never existed or a new mountain! We are not the same as we were. Now we are born of God, we have His nature and we have His Spirit. The same life God has in Himself, He imparts to us in the new birth. We

don't have to live like dead men any longer. We are alive to God. We are victorious because of the life of God that's been imparted to us. Eternal life has already begun. We are not supposed to live according to the world's way or according to the dictates of our natural bodies. We are to walk after the new man on the inside created in righteousness and true holiness in the image of God (Ephesians 4:24).

We cannot walk in newness of life by giving ourselves a set of rules and regulations. We do not walk in newness of life just by telling the Church, "Don't do this. Don't do that." We walk in newness of life by the Holy Spirit as He teaches us how to walk in God's way. The Holy Spirit teaches us a better way to live—a way that works.

We who are born of God are a strange species of being! We are supernatural spirits living in natural bodies. We are alive in the spirit, yet live in a body of flesh that's subject to death. We can operate in the spiritual realm and in the natural realm. We have to learn to function in both realms in God's higher ways with this new creation in control of our flesh.

We are to know according to Romans 6:6 that the old man of sin is crucified with Him that we should no longer serve sin. "And they that are Christ's have crucified the flesh with the affections and lusts. If we live in the Spirit, let us also walk in the Spirit" (Galatians 5:24-25). (I capitalized Spirit because the King James Version does, but in the original Greek there are no capitals. The capital letters are there at the privilege of the translators. I believe this whole context of scripture is speaking about our flesh and our spirit—walking after the new reborn spirit instead of the flesh.)

We have to keep that body crucified. Paul said, "I keep under my body, and bring it into subjection: lest that by any means, when I have preached to others, I myself should be a castaway" (1 Corinthians 9:27). In this portion of scripture he is speaking of running the race and obtaining the prize. You won't finish the race God has set before you without keeping your body in obedience to your spirit.

When we became Christians, our old man died and we were born again. We became a new man in Christ Jesus. Just as He died and was raised from death, when we were dead in trespasses and sin He raised us up from spiritual death into eternal life. Our spirit man was raised from death into life when we made Jesus the Lord over our lives.

God did not merely allow that new nature to

creep into us little by little. In one powerful moment, He removed the old nature—the heart that was full of sin and dead to Him. In one instant He replaced that old nature with the likeness of Himself.

We are born of Him. We have His nature. God lives inside us. We have received His life. We call it eternal life. It is the life of God, the substance of God Himself. We are literally His children. As we read in Romans 6:4, Jesus Christ was raised from the dead by the glory of the Father. Just as He was raised up by the glory of the Father, so we were raised up from the dead by the glory of the Father. We passed from death to life. And we should walk in the power of that resurrection life.

A few years ago during my prayer time, the Lord dealt with me about *resurrection*. It means "rising from the dead or coming back to life; coming back into notice, practice, use, a restoration or revival; the state of having risen from the dead."

There is coming a resurrection of our physical bodies—at the time of the catching away of the Church. But the greatest resurrection we'll ever know, we've already experienced. It occurred the moment we passed from spiritual death into spiritual life—when we were born again. That was the only death you—the real you, the spirit—will ever experience. Glory to God!

Our spirit man was raised up in eternal life. The primary part of us is not the physical body. We are a spirit being. It is the spirit that gives life to the body (James 2:26). The body is just the earthly house in which we live. When we (our spirits) leave our bodies, these bodies will die and decay, but we will be present with the Lord. One moment we are in our bodies, the next moment we are *in the glory!* "Thou shalt guide me with thy counsel, and afterward receive me to glory" (Psalm 73:24).

"Now we are to put on this new man. Read carefully how we are to live this new life. Since, then, you have been raised with Christ, set your hearts on things above, where Christ is seated at the right hand of God. Set your minds on things above, not on earthly things. For you died, and your life is now hidden with Christ in God. When Christ, who is your life, appears, then you also will appear with him in glory. Put to death, therefore, whatever belongs to your earthly nature: sexual immorality, impurity, lust, evil desires and greed, which is idolatry. Because of these, the wrath of God is coming. You used to walk in

these ways, in the life you once lived. But now you must rid yourselves of all such things as these: anger, rage, malice, slander, and filthy language from your lips. Do not lie to each other, since you have taken off your old self with its practices and have put on the new self, which is being renewed in knowledge in the image of its Creator. Here there is no Greek or Jew, circumcised or uncircumcised, barbarian, Scythian, slave or free, but Christ is all, and is in all. Therefore, as God's chosen people, holy and dearly loved, clothe yourselves with compassion, kindness, humility, gentleness and patience. Bear with each other and forgive whatever grievances you may have against one another. Forgive as the Lord forgave you. And over all these virtues put on love, which binds them all together in perfect unity. Let the peace of Christ rule in your hearts, since as members of one body you were called to peace. And be thankful. Let the word of Christ dwell in you richly as you teach and admonish one another with all wisdom, and as you sing psalms, hymns and spiritual songs with gratitude in your hearts to God. And whatever you do, whether in word or deed, do it all in the name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks to God the Father through him (Colossians 3:1-17, New International Version).

Dead Men Don't Sin

The old man of sin (the real man, the spirit) has already been crucified with the result that sin in the body can be overthrown. We need not sin or serve sin.

"For he that is dead is freed from sin. Now if we be dead with Christ, we believe that we shall also live with him: Knowing that Christ being raised from the dead dieth no more; death hath no more dominion over him. For in that he died, he died unto sin once: but in that he liveth, he liveth unto God. Likewise reckon ye also yourselves to be dead indeed unto sin, but alive unto God through Jesus Christ our Lord (Romans 6:7-11).

We are to consider ourselves dead to sin and our relation to it broken. We are to consider ourselves alive unto God through Jesus Christ our Lord. If you will live unto God and set your attention on Him, there is a fountain of life inside you that will flow out to permeate your mind, your body and your surroundings with God!

But if instead you live unto the world and unto sin, you will be dominated by death and defeat. It is not enough just to see ourselves dead to sin. We must *see* ourselves alive unto God.

Alive Unto God

Alive unto God. What does this phrase mean? To be alive unto God means to be responsive to His Spirit. If you are alive unto God, you will spend time in the Word of God and in prayer. You will maintain continual fellowship and communion with Him. When He speaks, you will hear and obey.

Proverbs 4:20-22 tells us that the Word of God is life and health to our flesh. So the Spirit of God will make alive our bodies. It says that the issues or forces of life come out of our hearts: "Keep [and guard] your heart [spirit] with all vigilance and above all that you guard, for out of it flow the springs of life" (Proverbs 4:23, *The Amplified Bible*). The *King James Version* says it this way: "My son, attend to my words; incline thine ear unto my sayings. Let them not depart from thine eyes; keep them in the midst of thine heart. For they are life unto those that find them, and health to all their flesh. Keep thy heart with all diligence; for out of it are the issues of life."

God says, "Consider yourself dead to sin." If you obey the Word and consider yourself dead to sin, when sin calls your name, you won't answer. You'll say, "No, I reckon myself dead to that." (In Arkansas where I was raised, you would say, "No! I reckon I'm dead to that.")

The word *temptation* means "solicitation to evil." There will be temptations, but those temptations will not get your attention when you are dead to sin. But you cannot walk that walk without being alive to God. It is not a matter of law, but of the life of God working in you.

It is your life with God, your fellowship and responsiveness to Him, that causes sin and the things of this world to fall away from you. As you walk after the hidden man of the heart, you walk free from the sin and bondage of the world, the flesh and the devil.

Free From Sin!

Sin has lost its dominion because it's no longer inside you. You had the nature of sin but Jesus your Savior came into your life and gave you His righteousness and you, the spirit, were raised from the dead to new life. Resurrection life! The same life that raised Jesus from the dead. Sin is on the outside. It's still available to you if you choose it, but it no longer has dominion. It's not your nature. For it to have place in your life after you've been born again, you have to give it permission—you have to allow it.

"Let not sin therefore reign in your mortal body, that ye should obey it in the lusts thereof. Neither yield ye your members as instruments of unrighteousness unto sin: but yield yourselves unto God, as those that are alive from the dead, and your members as instruments of righteousness unto God. For sin shall not have dominion over you: for ye are not under the law, but under grace. What then? shall we sin, because we are not under the law, but under grace? God forbid. Know ye not, that to whom ye yield yourselves servants to obey, his servants ve are to whom ye obey; whether of sin unto death, or of obedience unto righteousness? But God be thanked, that ye were the servants of sin, but ve have obeyed from the heart that form of doctrine which was delivered you. Being then made free from sin, ye became the servants of righteousness. I speak after the manner of men because of the infirmity [weakness] of your flesh: for as ye have yielded your members servants to uncleanness and to iniquity unto iniquity; even so now yield your members servants to righteousness unto holiness."(Romans 6:12-19).

Even though we are born again, when we yield ourselves to the devil and follow after sin, we are serving him, not God. Whether a servant of sin unto death or a servant of obedience unto righteousness, we yield ourselves to the one we are serving. We reap the harvest of the one we serve—a harvest of life or of death.

You let not sin reign in your body. Your body is to be ruled by you—the new creation spirit that comes from God. If your spirit were not able to handle this job, God wouldn't have given you this assignment. When God gives an assignment He

always gives the ability! Your spirit, empowered by the Holy Spirit, has the power to control your body. Sin shall not have dominion! Yield not to unrighteousness but yield yourselves to God. You are alive to Him!

"But if the Spirit of him that raised up Jesus from the dead dwell in you, he that raised up Christ from the dead shall also quicken your mortal bodies by his Spirit that dwelleth in you. Therefore, brethren, we are debtors, not to the flesh, to live after the flesh. For if ye live after the flesh, ye shall die: but if ye through the Spirit do mortify the deeds of the body, ye shall live. For as many as are led by the Spirit of God, they are the sons of God." (Romans 8:11-14).

The only way Satan has any inroad into your life is by ignorance or disobedience. If you are born again, he has no right to any power or authority over you. You have authority and power over him. But unless you choose to live according to the Word of God and the leading of God, you will be defeated. The degree of your victory depends on the degree of your obedience.

According to Romans 8:13, the Spirit of God will teach and train us to mortify (put to death or crucify) the deeds of the body. In other words, the Holy Spirit will lead us to control our bodies to please the Lord. The Holy Spirit reveals the Word to us.

You see, God does not expect us to walk pleasing unto Him and to be a glorious Church in this present world without the power of the Holy Spirit living within us. The Holy Spirit is the Great Enabler. His living within us is God's great hope for the glorious Church. His living in us is what enables us to not live like the world lives but to live with hearts open to Him. With His power enabling us we are to walk in newness of life. We are to walk in the glory—in His presence. Through Him we can...

Live a Holy Life

"...even so now yield your members servants to righteousness unto holiness. For when ye were the servants of sin, ye were free from righteousness. What fruit had ye then in those things whereof ye are now ashamed? for the end of those things is death. But now being made free from sin, and become servants to God, ye have your fruit unto holiness, and the end everlasting life. For the wages of sin is death; but the gift of God is eternal life through Jesus Christ our Lord" (Romans 6:19-23).

We have been made free from sin so that we can yield our bodies to God as servants of God in holiness.

We are to yield our bodies to righteousness unto holiness. Ephesians 4:24 says we are to put on this new man who after God is created in righteousness and true holiness.

Holy means pure; separated unto God for divine purpose and use. Hebrews 12:10 tells us that we are to be partakers of His holiness. First Corinthians 3:16-17 tells us we are the temple of the Spirit of God, that to defile it causes destruction, and that the temple which we are is holy.

Be ye not unequally yoked together with unbelievers: for what fellowship hath righteousness with unrighteousness? and what communion hath light with darkness?

"And what concord hath Christ with Belial? or what part hath he that believeth with an infidel? And what agreement hath the temple of God with idols? for ye are the temple of the living God; as God hath said, I will dwell in them, and walk in them; and I will be their God, and they shall be my people. Wherefore come out from among them, and be ye separate, saith the Lord, and touch not the unclean thing; and I will receive you, and will be a Father unto you, and ye shall be my sons and daughters, saith the Lord Almighty. Having therefore these promises, dearly beloved, let us cleanse ourselves from all filthiness of the flesh and spirit, perfecting holiness in the fear of God." (2 Corinthians 6:14-18, 7:1).

Ephesians 5:25-27 tells us that Jesus the Anointed gave Himself to sanctify (set apart) and cleanse the Church with the washing of water by the Word. (The Holy Spirit washes us with His Word.) He does this to present to Himself a glorious Church without spot or wrinkle, holy and without blemish. Ephesians 1:4 adds that He chose us before the foundation of the world to stand before Him holy and without blame in love. First Thessalonians 3:13 says our hearts are to be established in this holiness. First Thessalonians 4:7 says we are called unto holiness.

First Peter 1:15-16 says, "But just as he who called you is holy, so be holy in all you do; for it is written: 'Be holy, because I am holy'" (New International Version). Ephesians 5:1 says, "Therefore be imitators of God—copy Him and follow His example—as well-beloved children [imitate their father]" (The Amplified Bible).

The Bible ties the manifestation of God with our walking in holiness. Hebrews 12:14 says we are to follow peace with all men and holiness without which no man shall see the Lord. Jesus said, "Blessed are the pure in heart: for they shall see God" (Matthew 5:8). Romans 3:23 lets us know that sin brings us short of the glory—which is His manifested presence.

God wants His people to live a holy life because holiness is the only thing that will enjoy victory in the earth. God wants His people to live like He lives, being a total success. Holiness will bring life and peace to us.

We do as God says because His ways are our only deliverance while we live in the earth. The earth is not dominated by God's will unless the Church walks in its authority to proclaim what God says. (Do you wonder about that? Let me ask you this. Were the Dark Ages God's will? No, the earth experienced that time of darkness because the Church became, for the most part, inactive and ruled by religious tradition instead of the Word of God.)

We resist sin by the power of the Holy Spirit Who lives in us. If we do not resist, we will be swept into misery right along with the world. We will be victims of Satan's attempts to kill, steal and destroy.

Learn to speak Galatians 2:20-21 to keep your body obedient: "I am crucified with Christ: nevertheless I live; yet not I, but Christ liveth in me: and the life which I now live in the flesh I live by the faith of the Son of God, who loved me, and gave himself for me. I do not frustrate the grace of God...."

I do not frustrate the grace (divine favor and blessings) of God. Sin frustrates God's grace because it hinders His favor from working in your life.

When temptation (solicitation to evil) comes, you have the power, authority and privilege to say, "No! I'm crucified to that. I rebuke that thought in Jesus' Name." You are resisting the devil (James 4:7). This scripture says to submit yourselves to God and resist the devil. When you're being obedient, you are submitting to God. Satan will flee. Peter says to resist the devil *steadfast* in the faith (1 Peter 5:9). He describes the devil as our adversary going around (masquerading) as a roaring lion looking for someone who will let him have place in their lives. Well, keep moving devil, I'm not the one! The Bible says give the devil *no* place (Ephesians 4:27). Take action immediately against temptation.

"For though we walk in the flesh, we do not war after the flesh: (For the weapons of our warfare are not carnal, but mighty through God to the pulling down of strong holds;) casting down imaginations, and every high thing that exalteth itself against the knowledge of God, and bringing into captivity every thought to the obedience of Christ; and having in a readiness to revenge all disobedience, when your obedience is fulfilled." (2 Corinthians 10:3-6).

Don't allow disobedient, immoral or wrong thoughts to linger in your mind. Immediately replace thoughts of disobedience, immorality, doubt, defeat, discouragement or fear with the Word of God.

Control your thought life with the Word of God and let Philippians 4:4-8 be fulfilled continually in your life.

"Rejoice in the Lord always—delight, gladden yourselves in Him; again I say, Rejoice! Let all men know and perceive and recognize your unselfishness—your considerateness, your forbearing spirit. The Lord is near—He is coming soon. Do not fret or have any anxiety about anything, but in every circumstance and in everything by prayer and petition [definite requests] with thanksgiving continue to make your wants known to God. And God's peace [be yours, that tranquil state of a soul assured of its salvation through Christ, and so fearing nothing from God and content with its earthly lot of whatever sort that is, that peace] which

transcends all understanding, shall garrison and mount guard over your hearts and minds in Christ Jesus. For the rest, brethren, whatever is true, whatever is worthy of reverence and is honorable and seemly, whatever is just, whatever is pure, whatever is lovely and lovable, whatever is kind and winsome and gracious, if there is any virtue and excellence, if there is anything worthy of praise, think on and weigh and take account of these things—fix your minds on them (Philippians 4:4-8, The Amplified Bible).

Learn to think on the things of God—what His Word says about you and your situation. Refuse to allow thoughts of sin or defeat of any kind in your life. Live alive unto God listening to and responding to the Word of God and the Spirit of God. When you replace the devil's words with God's Word, you can continually live in the blessing and favor of God.

Look at what Proverbs says wisdom (His Word) will do in our lives:

- 1. Life, healing and health. "For they are life to those who find them, healing and health to all their flesh" (Proverbs 4:22, The Amplified Bible).
- 2. Length of days and years of life worth living. "For length of days, and years of a life [worth living], and tranquility [inward and outward and continuing through old age till death], these shall they add to you" (Proverbs 3:2, The Amplified Bible).
- 3. Favor and understanding. "So shalt thou find favour and good understanding in the sight of God and man" (Proverbs 3:4).
- 4. Guidance. "In all thy ways acknowledge him, and he shall direct thy paths" (Proverbs 3:6).
- 5. Abundance. "Honour the Lord with thy substance, and with the firstfruits of all thine increase: So shall thy barns be filled with plenty, and thy presses shall burst out with new wine" (Proverbs 3:9-10).
- 6. Riches and honor: "Length of days is in her right hand; and in her left hand riches and honour" (Proverbs 3:16).
- 7. Happiness. "Happy is the man that findeth wisdom, and the man that getteth understanding" (Proverbs 3:13).
- 8. Peace. "For length of days, and long life, and peace, shall they add to thee" (Proverbs 3:2).

9. Security—you shall not be afraid. "Be not afraid of sudden fear, neither of the desolation of the wicked, when it cometh.

For the Lord shall be thy confidence, and shall keep thy foot from being taken" (Proverbs 3:25-26).

10. Gracefulness, beauty and glory. "She shall give to your head a wreath of gracefulness; a crown of beauty and glory will she deliver to you" (Proverbs 4:9, The Amplified Bible).

Then these benefits will belong to us according to God's Word. God doesn't intend for us to live like the world and then pray to receive a miracle when we get into trouble. Thank God, He *will* deliver us when we get into trouble, but we are called to live so much higher than that—as high as the heavens are above the earth. If we'll place our lives in God's hands, obey Him and begin to live that holy life, most problems will be avoided. For example, it's wonderful to receive a miracle when you're sick, but it's better to walk with God and live in divine health and stay well (Proverbs 4:20-22).

By choosing to live as a born-again believer, and by spending time fellowshiping with God in His Word and in prayer, you are choosing to open up your spirit to Him so that you can walk responsive to His Spirit—that you stay ALIVE unto God.

As you walk alive unto God, the Holy Spirit will tell you what adjustments are necessary to make you pure and holy like your heavenly Father.

So, choose life. Choose the Word—and watch the blessings overtake you.

5. A Living Communion With Him

"I am the true vine, and my Father is the husbandman. Every branch in me that beareth not fruit he taketh away: and every branch that beareth fruit, he purgeth it, that it may bring forth more fruit. Now ye are clean through the word which I have spoken unto you. Abide in me, and I in you. As the branch cannot bear fruit of itself, except it abide in the vine; no more can ye, except ye abide in me. I am the vine, ye are the branches: He that abideth in me, and I in him, the same bringeth forth much fruit: for without me ye can do nothing. If a man abide not in me, he is cast forth as a branch, and is withered; and men gather them, and cast them into the fire, and they are burned. If ye abide in me, and my words abide in you, ye shall ask what ye will, and it shall be done unto you" (John 15:1-7).

Abiding is living in, settling down, dwelling in. It is not "coming in" and "going out." The *Wuest* translates *abiding* as "a living communion." Jesus is the vine. We are the branches. If you separate the branch from the vine, you break the union. You can lay the branch right next to the vine, but if it is not one with the vine, the life won't flow into that branch to make it produce fruit.

Rufus Mosely said, "Fruit appears on branches. God has to have branches of the same texture as Himself, the same sap, the same mind, the same spirit, before He can bring forth in fullness what He wants to bring forth." God has had to wait for a people who will be branches. James 5:7 says "...Behold, the husbandman waiteth for the precious fruit of the earth, and hath long patience for it, until he receive the early and latter rain."

The Amplified Bible says, "So be patient, brethren, [as you wait] till the coming of the Lord. See how the farmer waits expectantly for the precious harvest from the land. [See how] he keeps up his patient [vigil] over it until it receives the early and late rains."

Many believers don't bear fruit. They get born again, but do not abide in Him. There is no living communion—no life flow. Their spiritual lives wither and they become subject to the devil, subject to the enemy. Sickness and disease comes upon them. They do not live like spiritual men, but like natural men.

We are not to get born again and then stop. We are not born again just so God's house will be full, even though that is important to Him. We are born again to be His special possession in the earth—a group of people who will do anything He tells them to do—who will be obedient. Then He will get His plan finished and the earth will be full of His glory.

Rufus Mosely also said, "All you have to do to keep union is to put Him first and keep your mind stayed on Him. In union and love, you will have everything else. Our only responsibility is the responsibility of the union. If we will give ourselves to the union, He will look after everything else."

How are we to do this? By His Spirit. Jesus did not expect us to do that in our own power. He expected His Spirit to come and live in us and communicate His words to our spirits. The Spirit of God is in us to bring about that continual living communion with Jesus.

"But the Comforter (Counselor, Helper, Intercessor, Advocate, Strengthener, Standby), the Holy Spirit, Whom the Father will send in My name [in My place, to represent Me and act on My behalf], He will teach you all things. And He will cause you to recall—will remind you of, bring to your remembrance everything I have told you.... However, I am telling you nothing but the truth when I say, it is profitable—good, expedient, advantageous —for you that I go away. Because if I do not go away, the Comforter (Counselor, Helper, Advocate, Intercessor, Strengthener, Standby) will not come to you—into close fellowship with you. But if I go away, I will send Him to *you—to be in close fellowship with you....But* when He, the Spirit of Truth (the truth-giving Spirit) comes, He will guide you into all the truth—the whole, full truth. For He will not speak His own message—on His own authority-but He will tell whatever He hears [from the Father, He will give the message that has been given to Him] and He will announce and declare to you the things that are to come—that will happen in the future. He will honor and glorify Me, because He will take of (receive, draw upon) what is Mine and will reveal (declare, disclose, transmit) it to you. Everything that the Father has is Mine. That is what I meant when I said that He will take the things that are Mine and will reveal (declare, disclose, transmit) them to vou." (John 14:26, 16:7, 13-15, The Amplified

In 1 John 2:20 we read: "But ye have an unction from the Holy One, and ye know all things."

The word *unction* here is the same word as *anointing* in verse 27: "But the anointing which ye have received of him abideth in you, and ye need not that any man teach you: but as the same anointing teacheth you of all things, and is truth, and is no lie, and even as it hath taught you, ye shall abide in him."

This anointing for living is from the Spirit of the God living in us. Jesus said He would lead us into all the truth. He said it was better that He went away because He would send another Comforter (the Holy Spirit) Who would live in us and teach us all things. The anointing of the Spirit of God which we have received *abides* within us. This unction of the Holy Spirit is in us continually to teach us, lead us, guide us and counsel us. He tells us what the Father and Jesus want us to do. It is just like having a two-way radio linked up to heaven. And He empowers us to do it.

Work out—cultivate, carry out to the goal and fully complete—your own salvation...[Not in your own strength] for it is God Who is all the while effectually at work in you—energizing and creating in you the power and desire—both to will and to work for His good pleasure and satisfaction and delight (Philippians 2:12-13, *The Amplified Bible*).

Now here is the catch: "...even as it [the anointing] hath taught you, ye shall abide in him" (1 John 2:27). What does this mean? That as this anointing teaches us, we obey. We abide in Him. Abiding is obeying. If we do not abide in Him and walk in Him, the Spirit of God is hindered in accomplishing what He has been sent to do. We either walk in obedience to our God, or we pay the price for disobedience.

The Promptings of the Spirit

"Wherefore, my brethren, ye also are become dead to the law by the body of Christ; that ye should be married to another, even to him who is raised from the dead, that we should bring forth fruit unto God. For when we were in the flesh, the motions of sins, which were by the law, did work in our members to bring forth fruit unto death. But now we are delivered from the law, that being dead wherein we were held; that we should serve in newness of spirit, and not in the oldness of the letter." (Romans 7:4-6).

We are to serve now in newness of spirit. *The Amplified Bible* says we serve in "...[obedience to the promptings] of the Spirit in newness [of life]" (verse 6). We are to serve now after this new man who is born of God indwelt and permeated by the Holy Spirit. We no longer serve the old habits and ideas we had or after the flesh that has not yet been changed. We still serve, but we serve from the inside. Now we walk in newness of life and follow the promptings of our newborn spirit as he is taught and directed by the Holy Spirit. We have died to the law that we might be married to Him Who was raised from the dead to bring forth fruit unto God.

"But he that is joined unto the Lord is one spirit" (1 Corinthians 6:17). We are to function here in the earth, even while we still live in a natural body as one with Jesus the Anointed. We were dead. Now we live to be "married" to Him.

"That he might sanctify and cleanse it with the washing of water by the word, That he might present it to himself a glorious church, not having spot, or wrinkle, or any such thing; but that it should be holy and without blemish. So ought men to love their wives as their own bodies. He that loveth his wife loveth himself. For no man ever yet hated his own flesh; but nourisheth and cherisheth it, even as the Lord the church: For we are members of his body, of his flesh, and of his bones. For this cause shall a man leave his father and mother, and shall be joined unto his wife, and they two shall be one flesh. This is a great mystery: but I speak concerning Christ and the church.' (Ephesians 5:26-32).

Paul says this is a great mystery. As a man is joined to his wife and they become one flesh so is the Anointed and His Church. We are His body—flesh of His flesh, bone of His bone. We are to live united to Him as the branch to the vine so that His life and His anointing pervades every action and decision. That is the way Jesus Himself lived. He said:

"I am able to do nothing from Myself—independently, of My own accord—but as I am taught by God and as I get His orders. [I decide as I am bidden to decide. As the voice comes to Me, so I give a decision.] Even as I hear, I judge and My judgment is right (just, righteous), because I do not seek or consult My own will—I have no desire to do what is pleasing to Myself, My own aim, My own purpose—but only the will and pleasure of the Father Who sent Me (John 5:30, The Amplified Bible).

"And he that sent me is with me: the Father hath not left me alone; for I do always those things that please him.... If ye continue in my word, then are ye my disciples indeed; And ye shall know the truth, and the truth shall make you free." (John 8:29, 31-32).

The Spirit of God is the voice of God to us. He proceeds directly from the Father. The way the Holy Spirit leads us most of the time is by the inward witness. We also call it a prompting, guidance, a leading, an unction. It is an instruction in our spirits.

It is important to know that the Holy Spirit is not going to push His way into your life. Yes, He wants to lead you, but He won't force Himself into your affairs. "For as many as are led by the Spirit of God, they are the sons of God" (Romans 8:14).

Proverbs 20:27 says, "The spirit of man is the candle of the Lord...." He wants to burn His light brightly in our hearts, to illuminate our path.

The Spirit of God is within you to control your life—not by forcing you, but by leading you. He wants control of you because He is the only One on earth who knows what to do to make your life work.

Now you might think, *I don't want anyone controlling me*. Let's think about that. Suppose there was a human being who could answer every problem you have. You could phone this person at any time, tell him your problem and always receive the

solution. You would take his direction gladly, and you would call him whenever a problem arose. That person would have control of your life with your permission. And you would be glad!

Of course, there is no natural person who knows the answer to every problem. But the Holy Spirit does! He knows all of the answers. He is in you to help you, to give you revelation and direction for your life. He wants you to call on Him. He is waiting for you to recognize Him as the Comforter (Counselor, Helper, Intercessor, Advocate, Strengthener, Standby). He is always available to come to your aid and make the difference between life and death, failure and defeat.

So too the (Holy) Spirit comes to our aid and bears us up in our weakness; for we do not know what prayer to offer nor how to offer it worthily as we ought, but the Spirit Himself goes to meet our supplication and pleads in our behalf with unspeakable yearnings and groanings too deep for utterance (Romans 8:26, The Amplified Bible).

Many people have been filled with the Spirit for years, but never have really listened to Him. They never have learned to obey Him. They have not paid attention to the Word of God to learn how. The Holy Spirit is the Teacher, but to hear Him you will have to give Him your attention.

God is looking for people who will worship Him and serve Him in spirit and in truth (John 4:23). I realized one day that God did not expect me to be able to do what I was called to do by my own mind or ability. He expected to give me His strength and ability supernaturally. He expected to be my portion for whatever I needed. I knew I could only please God by walking in the spirit and not in the flesh. So I prayed, "Lord, teach me to walk in the spirit," and He began to teach me. I learned things that changed my life.

The Holy Spirit will unveil His blessings to us if we will give Him an opportunity. Remember that Jesus did not become your Savior until you recognized Him as Lord and were born again. When you gave Him that recognition and allowed Him to take over your life, He became your Savior.

The Holy Spirit is the same way. He is not going to take over your life as Comforter, Counselor, Helper, Intercessor, Advocate, Strengthener and Standby until you invite Him, until you give Him place, until you recognize Him as the One Who

comes to your aid and support. When you begin to listen to Him, lean on Him, rely on Him and trust in Him, He will begin to work in just that way. The more you lean on Him and not your own understanding, the more He is able to fulfill His ministry to you.

God speaks to us by His Spirit. We don't have to go to a prophet to hear from God in this dispensation of grace. We are born of God. No longer is the Holy Spirit in the holy of holies as He was in the Old Covenant. No longer is He kept in a place that is unapproachable that only the high priest can enter. He is no longer there. He is within you and me.

With the Spirit of God in us, we become mobile temples of God. Satan does not want you to know this, because he doesn't want you to realize that when you face a problem, the Spirit of God faces it with you. When you know not how to pray as you ought, the Holy Spirit takes hold together with you against that infirmity or weakness in your life and prays the perfect will of God into existence, and gives you direction that will bring victory. Then He gives you the power and ability to do whatever He directs.

Where does the Holy Ghost live? Within your spirit. God wants to talk to you spirit to spirit, and that is how His Spirit communicates with you most of the time. Usually, He does not speak directly to your mind or to your physical ears.

When you hear these promptings come up within you, you may ask, "Was that me, Father, or was it You?"

It will sound like you—and it is—because it is your own spirit that you hear most of the time. Your spirit relays to your soul (mind, will, emotions) what the Spirit of God is saying to you. It is sometimes difficult to differentiate between the two. I cannot tell you how to know the difference. I can only tell you how to get started and that you will begin to know. As you spend time in prayer and in God's Word, your spirit, which is directly infused and connected with God's Spirit, is a reliable witness to follow.

God expects you to be sensitive and to listen to the promptings—that unction, that inward witness. According to Hebrews 4:12, the Word of God divides between the soul and the spirit. It will distinguish within you between your natural mind and your spirit—between what is coming from your mind and what is coming from your spirit. If you want to walk in the spirit, you will have to spend time studying in and meditating on the Word and praying in the spirit.

The more you grow in the Lord, the more your soul will come into agreement with God. The more your soul is renewed to think like God thinks, the easier it will be for you to be led by the Holy Spirit.

We were born again in God's image on the inside, but the Holy Spirit will begin to change us on the outside as we obey Him. As we walk with Him and obey Him, the Spirit of God within us will manifest the presence of Jesus until Romans 8:29 is fulfilled: "For whom he did foreknow, he also did predestinate to be conformed to the image of his Son, that he might be the firstborn among many brethren."

As we begin to think like He thinks, the things of God will become so great that the things of the world will seem ridiculously insignificant.

Let loose the Spirit of God in your life. Walk in that anointing. Abide in that anointing. The Spirit of God is leading you, counseling you, teaching you, ministering grace to you every day of your life.

When we receive that unction from God, giving us direction, we are to obey. We are not to mentally question it. We are not to talk ourselves out of it. We are not to reason it away. (But, of course, we judge all direction by what God has already said in the written Word concerning His will and the laws of the Spirit. He will never tell us to do something that is crosswise to His Word.) When the Spirit of God rises up within us, we must act. That is what makes God able to manifest Himself in our lives, from one degree of glory to another.

Obedience opens the door that nothing else will open. Being obedient to the Spirit of God opens the door for God to honor us in full measure. God is able to work His perfect will in our lives when we honor Him, reverence Him and abide in Him. Whatever we do toward Him, we open the door for Him to do toward us. If Jesus and His Word abide in us and we maintain a living communion with Him by the Spirit of God, we'll be able to walk in continual obedience. When we do that, we put ourselves in position to ask whatever we will and it will be done (John 15:7).

Remember this: Abiding is obeying.

For yourselves, let the teaching which you have heard from the beginning abide within you. If that teaching does abide within you, you also will abide in the Son. And in the Father (1 John 2:24, *Weymouth*).

The man who obeys His commands abides in God and God in him; and through His spirit which He has given us we can know that He abides in us (1

John 3:24, Weymouth).

God gives us His Word. He gives us His direction. When He tells you to do something, it may seem unimportant to you. You might think it is insignificant, but your future may depend on it.

God does not explain Himself. He expects you to walk by faith. He expects you to be mature. He expects you to grow up into Him so you will simply do what you are told, knowing that He is smarter than you. Then He sees whether or not we will do it. If we will not, He knows we are not ready to move on with Him.

If you have had problems in your life and you feel that God is not paying attention to you, think back to the moment you disobeyed Him last, then obey His instructions. "Draw nigh to God, and he will draw nigh to you" (James 4:8). He may be waiting for you to set things straight and begin again with Him.

Unless we rise up and begin to obey the anointing—the unction—in our spirits by the Holy Spirit, God will be unable to take us any further along than we are right now. Like Israel, we will stay in the wilderness until God finds another generation that's obedient. And if they accept Him at His Word and follow His Spirit, then He will take them further than He was able to take us.

We should not want to stay where we are, though it may be such a wonderful place. We must continue on so we can grow in God.

You have to start where you are right now. Obey everything that God tells you today, and then again tomorrow, and the next day. Learn to walk with God one day at a time. He will give you the grace daily for what you're to do that day. Then you will be able to look back and see a life that has pleased God. In our everyday walk we must be obedient—in the seemingly little things, as well as in the big things.

Following the Spirit of God is the only way the Church will ever do the job God has called us to do. We cannot do it in our soulish realm. We cannot operate in the supernatural and have our souls (minds, wills, emotions) in command of our lives. *We must walk in the Spirit*. To walk in the supernatural, we must be willing to go beyond what we can see with our natural eyes and walk after God by faith. We must learn to look through the eye of faith.

I made this commitment: "God, I will do anything You want me to do. Teach me and lead me."

At this time Ken did not have a daytime service, and by direction of the Lord, I started teaching on Friday mornings. (I was already teaching healing on Saturdays.) I prayed: "Father, we are just giving You this time. We are turning it over to the Holy Spirit. Whatever You want us to do, tell us."

I told the people to prepare themselves to set aside these days for the Holy Spirit to do whatever He wanted. Those services lasted sometimes for three or four hours. I just endeavored to teach the Word and to follow the Holy Spirit and minister to the people.

I said, "God, I will do anything You tell me to do. I don't care what I look like to people." If there was anyone who had cared what they looked like to people, it had been me. (Sister Etter calls this a manfearing spirit.) I wanted to be dignified and nice. I never wanted to look foolish to anyone. On top of that I was timid, but I reached a place where it was more important what God thought about me than what people thought.

In those services God began to show me things to do and I would do them. Sometimes they would be little things, but I did my best to not hold back. It does not always have to be some big thing. God just needs to know that we will obey Him in little things before He can take us on to bigger things. "He that is faithful in that which is least is faithful also in much..." (Luke 16:10).

I so wanted to be led by the Holy Spirit. Here is an example of how a simple act of obedience brought me strength to be able to fulfill an assignment.

One of the things He told me to do was to lay hands on every person that had not received the manifestation of healing. I had rarely ever had a healing line and I had *never* laid hands on that many people after I had been ministering for three hours on healing. When I had finished, I was so tired I could hardly close the meeting. I had to have someone else do it.

After the next healing service, God told me to do the same thing, but at the end He said, *Now rejoice before the Lord*. Prior to that, I had said, "Lord, I will do anything You want me to do." I had not planned to rejoice before the Lord in front of all those people.

But I just turned to the musicians and said, "Let's rejoice before the Lord."

Then the Lord prompted me: *Now worship Me—spirit, soul and body. Don't just hold up your hands. Begin to dance before Me.* I had never done that and

had never intended to do it. I could have thought, I don't believe I'm ready for that yet. But God said it, and I was so committed to obeying Him that I just began to dance before the Lord. And the people joined in with me! We were caught up in rejoicing and had a good time worshiping God.

In the previous meeting I had been absolutely exhausted after ministering. This time I had ministered about four hours when I began to dance before the Lord, and something happened in my physical body. The Holy Spirit quickened my mortal flesh and all the tiredness left me.

The Lord did not say, "If you will dance before Me, you will be rewarded for it. You will be glad you did. It will change many things in your life and your thinking." He did not say it was that important. He just said, "Do it." I was so ready to obey Him that I followed through with it. You know, it has been one of the greatest blessings I have ever known.

In previous meetings I would often be so tired that I could hardly make it to the night service. But when I began to rejoice that day, the Spirit of God refreshed me physically. Nehemiah 8:10 says, "...for the joy of the Lord is your strength." That is what rejoicing is all about. All these years have come and gone and I've always had the physical strength to finish the healing service. Usually I'm not even tired!

It also did something else for me. It released me in some way from being inhibited to following after God. I became quicker to obey God in other areas that might seem foolish. It broke an inhibition that I did not even realize was there, and somehow I became freer to follow after God.

Do you know what the dictionary says *dignity* is? "Self-possession or self-respect." I do not want to be self-possessed; I want to be Holy Spirit-controlled. But I am sure that my idea of dignity had kept me from being as free as I should be with the Lord.

Freedom happens when you follow your spirit. You do not always know what is at the other end of that act of obedience. Your primary action should be to please God. Everything the Spirit of God tells you to do will work for your good. It is *always* going to be to your advantage.

6. The Comfort of the Holy Ghost

Then had the churches rest throughout all Judaea and Galilee and Samaria, and were edified; and walking in the fear of the Lord, and in the comfort of the Holy Ghost, were multiplied (Acts 9:31).

Notice the churches were multiplied when they walked in the fear of the Lord and in the comfort of the Holy Spirit. Walking in the comfort of the Holy Spirit is walking obedient to the promptings of your newborn spirit indwelt and illuminated by the Holy Spirit. It's walking in His divine favor and blessing continually. It's having God's grace (divine favor and blessing) manifested in your life every day.

You cannot walk in the comfort of the Holy Ghost without first walking in the fear of the Lord.

Walking in the fear of the Lord is obeying Him, honoring Him, living your life according to what He says. It does not mean to be afraid of Him. It means to have such confidence in Him and respect and honor for Him that you follow Him. It means to walk in all the light you have while you look for more light.

If you walk in the fear of God, you will not do things that you know are against His will. You will not habitually sin. Proverbs 3:7 says, "...fear the Lord, and depart from evil." You won't say, "I'll just commit this sin, and repent later." That is having no fear of God. If you truly fear God, you will honor Him and reverence Him above everything and everyone else.

God must have priority in our lives. He should be given first place before ourselves, our families or anything else. The fear of God can never be second place. If God is second place, then we cannot be walking in the fear of Him. And if we walk in the fear of Him, giving Him the reverence, honor and respect He deserves, every area of our lives will be satisfied and multiplied. Jesus said it in Matthew 6:33: "But seek for (aim at and strive after) first of all His kingdom, and His righteousness [His way of doing and being right], and then all these things taken together will be given you besides" (*The Amplified Bible*).

All we have to do is live before our Father like little children. We must do whatever He tells us to do: "My child, let go of this thing. Make this change in

your life. Put this away from you. I will help you do it. Let Me work in you."

Do you know what we need to do? Just get out of the way and let the Holy Spirit work on our behalf. When He gives us a leading or prompts us to do something, we should just obey Him like little children. We are learning to walk in a new realm—the realm of the spirit.

His Divine Favor

The Spirit of God in our lives wants to minister grace—God's divine favor and blessing—to us on a daily basis. Because of this, we can live in the continual blessing and comfort of the Holy Spirit. Grace did not stop when we were born again. When we leave this earth and go to be with Him, grace will have only begun. In the ages to come, He will lavish His grace upon us.

"Even when we were dead in sins, hath quickened us together with Christ, (by grace ye are saved;) and hath raised us up together, and made us sit together in heavenly places in Christ Jesus: that in the ages to come he might show the exceeding riches of his grace in his kindness toward us through Christ Jesus. For by grace are ye saved through faith; and that not of yourselves: it is the gift of God" (Ephesians 2:5-8).

Salvation is a free gift of God. It comes to us by the grace of God. Salvation is more than the new birth. It is salvation in every area of our lives. *Vine's Expository Dictionary of Biblical Words* says *salvation* means "deliverance, preservation; material and temporal deliverance from danger and apprehension; pardon, protection, liberty, health, restoration, soundness, wholeness." Our salvation does not stop when we are born again. Philippians 2:12 says, "...work out your own salvation with fear and trembling." In other words, have respect and honor unto Him and continue to work out your own salvation.

What does it mean to work out your own salvation? It simply means to follow after the Holy Spirit. Only God knows the end and the depths of salvation and the wonderful things He has prepared for us in this life. He has more in store for us than just going to heaven when we die. We are to live in the blessing and dominion of God while here on earth.

Let's look now at 1 Corinthians 2:

"But as it is written, Eye hath not seen, nor ear heard, neither have entered into the heart of man, the things which God hath prepared for them that love him. But God hath revealed them unto us by his Spirit: for the Spirit searcheth all things, yea, the deep things of God. For what man knoweth the things of a man, save the spirit of man which is in him?

even so the things of God knoweth no man, but the Spirit of God. Now we have received, not the spirit of the world, but the spirit which is of God; that we might know the things that are freely given to us of God" (1 Corinthians 2:9-12).

God's Spirit is in us to reveal the wonderful things that God has already prepared for us. The treasure house of heaven is open to us. God's communion and grace, His divine favor and blessing, is to be continually enjoyed in our lives. That is walking in the comfort of the Holy Spirit.

"The earth is the Lord's, and the fulness thereof' (Psalm 24:1). He wants His Church—the glorious Church, His special people—to repossess this place spiritually. It does not belong to the devil. It belongs to God. Satan stole it from God through Adam's sin and disobedience. God wants us to take it back by His Spirit in obedience to Him.

Remember, by one man's trespass, death reigned. By one man's disobedience, sin reigned. But I want to announce this:

"For if, because of one man's trespass (lapse, offense) death reigned through that one, much more surely will those who receive [God's] overflowing grace (unmerited favor) and the free gift of righteousness (putting them into right standing with Himself) reign as kings in life through the One, Jesus Christ, the Messiah, the Anointed One" (Romans 5:17, The Amplified Bible).

God by His Spirit is teaching us to walk with Him here so the kingdom of God can be manifested and the earth filled with His glory. We take the people of this earth from the hands of the devil as we are controlled by the Holy Spirit.

You must reach the place of trusting the Holy Spirit to fulfill His ministry. As you trust Him, He will be able to lead you. The promptings of the Holy Spirit in us will prevent us from going in the wrong direction and will enable us to go in the right direction

The Holy Spirit ministering grace reveals God's plan for our lives. If we never walk in the Spirit, we will never walk in God's perfect will for our lives. We will just be walking in the dark, bumping against the walls of life.

The Apostle Paul in Galatians talks about our

falling from grace. He is writing to the Church, to born-again people. When he writes about their falling from grace, he does not mean they are going to hell. He is referring to their falling from the position of being ministered to by the Holy Ghost on a day-to-day basis. "I marvel that ye are so soon removed from him that called you into the grace of Christ unto another gospel" (Galatians 1:6).

We are called to live and dwell in the blessing and grace of Christ Jesus Himself. We are joint heirs with Him. He has given us the keys to His kingdom.

"O foolish Galatians, who hath bewitched you, that ye should not obey the truth, before whose eyes Jesus Christ hath been evidently set forth, crucified among you? This only would I learn of you, Received ye the Spirit by the works of the law, or by the hearing of faith? Are ye so foolish? Having begun in the Spirit, are ye now made perfect by the flesh? Have ye suffered so many things in vain? if it be yet in vain. He therefore that ministereth to you the Spirit, and worketh miracles among you, doeth he it by the works of the law, or by the hearing of faith?" (Galatians 3:1-5).

Let's look at Galatians 5:

"Stand fast therefore in the liberty wherewith Christ hath made us free, and be not entangled again with the yoke of bondage.... Christ is become of no effect unto you, whosoever of you are justified by the law; ye are fallen from grace. For we through the Spirit wait for the hope of righteousness by faith" (Galatians 5:1, 4-5).

Here Paul said that Christ had become of no effect. What did he mean? All the wonderful things Jesus bought and paid for in redemption were having no effect in their lives, because they were no longer going after the Spirit. They were going after law, following after another gospel.

They fell from the state of dependence on the Holy Spirit—they fell from grace. The Spirit of God was unable to minister to them all the blessings of redemption, all the things God had prepared for them because they were not depending on the work of the Holy Spirit. He was unable to minister grace—divine favor and blessing—to them.

Galatians 5:4 in Wuest reads: "You are without

effect from Christ, such of you as in the sphere of the law are seeking your justification. You have lost your hold upon [sanctifying] grace."

They were no longer seeking after the Spirit; they were seeking after keeping the law for their justification. They had lost their hold upon sanctifying grace.

What does the word *sanctify* mean? "To set apart." Paul was saying to them, "You have lost your hold upon the grace of God by the Spirit of God that sets you apart from the world."

Most Christians have never entered into the fullness of grace in daily life because their understanding and expectation of grace stops at the new birth. They only have known enough to get born again. Most Christians do not even know enough to walk in divine health. But when they die, they will go to be with the Lord.

Galatians 5:5 in *Wuest* reads: "For, as for us, through the agency of the Spirit, on the ground of faith, a hoped-for righteousness we are eagerly awaiting...."

We allow the Spirit of God to minister grace to us on the ground of faith. Faith comes by hearing the Word of God. Faith gives us access into the grace of God. "By whom also we have access by faith into this grace wherein we stand, and rejoice in hope of the glory of God" (Romans 5:2). "For by grace are ye saved through faith; and that not of yourselves: it is the gift of God: Not of works, lest any man should boast" (Ephesians 2:8-9).

What is faith? Hearing and obeying God's Word—the written Word and His Word in our hearts. Faith demands action. We must hear the guidance of the Spirit and obey it, and that obedience opens the door and gives us access to grace—the wonderful favor of God. To walk in the grace and favor of God is to walk in the comfort of the Holy Spirit.

As we cooperate with His Spirit and be obedient, grace overtakes us and we walk in the goodness of God. The moment we begin to seek Him, the Holy Spirit begins to minister grace in our lives. We would never be able to become mature sons and daughters of God without the grace of God. He could have given up on us, but His grace continued after us. He lovingly waits for us to receive that grace. He wants to bring to pass in our lives everything Jesus bought and paid for on the cross. Jesus destroyed the works of the devil. He destroyed Satan's kingdom. We have

already absolutely been made free in every area of life

Our obedience to God—obeying His voice and keeping His commandments—causes us to live in the earth like we were already in heaven. How can that be? Because heaven is in us. The Holy Spirit is in us. He is the earnest of our inheritance (Ephesians 1:14). Wherever the Holy Spirit is given dominion in the life of a believer, the kingdom of God—the dominion of God—is manifested.

Let's not be like the Galatian Christians. Christ became of no effect to them. They fell from grace—they deprived themselves of the ministry of the Holy Spirit from Whom they received daily grace for daily living. You and I need not spend one day in darkness and defeat if we will be obedient to God and listen to His Spirit.

We read in Romans 8:13-14: "...if ye through the Spirit do mortify the deeds of the body, ye shall live. For as many as are led by the Spirit of God, they are the sons of God."

The word *sons* in the Greek means "mature sons" of God. "For they [our earthly fathers] verily for a few days chastened [or disciplined] us after their own pleasure; but he [God] for our profit, that we might be partakers of his holiness" (Hebrews 12:10).

The Holy Spirit is here for our profit. He is here to instruct us. The word chastened does not mean He makes us sick or knocks us in the head. It means He teaches, instructs, admonishes, corrects and disciplines us. "Thus saith the Lord, thy Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel; I am the Lord thy God which teacheth thee to profit, which leadeth thee by the way that thou shouldest go. O that thou hadst hearkened to my commandments! then had thy peace been as a river, and thy righteousness as the waves of the sea" (Isaiah 48:17-18).

God teaches us to profit. He is in us to teach us to profit in all things, first of all spiritual things. When we profit in spiritual things, profit in the natural realm is the byproduct.

He will teach us how to be holy as He is holy. We are to be separated from the world so we live like the Father instead of like the world.

Now no chastening for the present seemeth to be joyous, but grievous: nevertheless afterward it yieldeth the peaceable fruit of righteousness unto them which are exercised thereby.

Wherefore lift up the hands which hang down, and the feeble knees; and make straight paths for your feet, lest that which is lame be turned out of the way; but let it rather be healed.

Follow peace with all men, and holiness, without which no man shall see the Lord: looking diligently lest any man fail of the grace of God; lest any root of bitterness springing up trouble you, and thereby many be defiled (Hebrews 12:11-15).

We do not want to fail the grace of God. We do not want to frustrate the grace of God by not obeying the Holy Spirit.

What good is it to have a Counselor if we fail to do what He says?

What good is it to have a Strengthener if we will not receive His strength?

What good is it to have a Helper if we give Him nothing to help?

The only way He can do anything for us on a continual basis is through our obedience in following Him because we each have a will. He never imposes His will over ours. He gives us direction. He prompts us. He provides that inward witness. But we are never forced to obey. We can always go our own way and then pay the price for disobedience.

It is wonderful to know that the Spirit of God is within us. May we always be willing to hear His voice and obey Him in full measure.

Second Corinthians 9:8 in the *The Amplified Bible* says, "And God is able to make all grace (every favor and earthly blessing) come to you in abundance...." This would encompass every area of life. Since we first received Him, God has been ready to minister grace to us, to set us apart, to bring us to a place where He can give His blessings to us without restraint. When this happens, others know we are His special people. They see the blessings of God. They see the manifestation of His presence in our lives. It is a witness to them of His goodness.

Our Commandment Is Love

Strife will cause the grace of God to fail in our lives. Strife, unforgiveness, being critical—these things restrain the Holy Spirit from moving on our behalf. He will be hindered in blessing and favoring us, because the Spirit of God ministers grace through our obedience.

"This is my commandment, That ye love one another, as I have loved you" (John 15:12). We are to love as Jesus loved. If we don't walk in love, we won't be able to walk in the manifested grace of God on a day-to-day basis. If we fail to keep this commandment, the work of God's Spirit is greatly hindered in our lives.

If you have been praying for some specific needs, but have not been getting results, check your love life. Are you loving the people with whom you come into contact? If not, the power of God is restrained in your life because you are walking in disobedience. Until the love of God begins to operate in your life, the Holy Spirit will be unable to minister unhindered to you to accomplish in your life the good that God desires.

The Bible says when man subverts his ways, his heart frets against the Lord (Proverbs 19:3, *The Amplified Bible*). Many times we go about living the way we want and simply expect God to fill in the gaps when we get into trouble.

When trouble comes, we say, "God, why did You let this happen to me?"

God did not let it happen to you. *You* let it happen to you by being disobedient.

You might say, "Well, I didn't know any better." Then you need to become more knowledgeable. You cannot stay in ignorance and stay in blessing at the same time. Satan will cram defeat down your throat as long as you will stand there and take it.

The word *grace* means "free, undeserved favor." The Greek word for *grace* is *charis*. When Christians believe in the gifts of the Spirit, they are called *charismatics*. What are the gifts of the Spirit? They are simply gifts of God's grace shed abroad in our midst. We don't deserve them. We can't earn them. They come at God's will. They are a manifestation of His grace. Many times a person who receives a gift will not even be standing in faith. (In this situation, someone's faith is active, but not necessarily the one who receives.) God just comes down by His grace

and dis-tributes the gifts of the Spirit as He wills. Why? Because God is good. The gifts of the Spirit are gifts of grace. God lavishes them upon us because of His goodness and His mercy.

Obeying the Spirit

As we obey the Holy Spirit, those gifts of grace will become profuse in our midst. Miracles will come to pass constantly because grace operates unhindered as we obey Him. As the Holy Spirit ministers grace, people are miraculously healed and delivered.

There are different areas of healing. Not all healing results from a gift of the Spirit. As believers, we have authority over sickness and disease. We also receive from God just because we believe and act on God's Word.

But through the gifts of healings, God personally takes care of a matter. He comes on the scene and gets the job done. He says, "Let Me take over on this one." This is the way He wants to operate in our midst. He wants us to become so obedient to Him, that He can do as He desires in the whole earth through us—and not just to the Church, but *through the Church* to those who sit in darkness.

"See that ye refuse not him that speaketh. For if they escaped not who refused him that spake on earth, much more shall not we escape, if we turn away from him that speaketh from heaven.... Wherefore we receiving a kingdom which cannot be moved, let us have grace, whereby we may serve God acceptably with reverence and godly fear: for our God is a consuming fire" (Hebrews 12:25, 28-29).

It is only through the favor of God given to us by the Holy Spirit that we are able to come to a place of obedience with Him.

You may think, I would love to live for God. I would love to live in obedience to Him. But I know I could never do it.

You are right. You could never do it—by yourself. But you won't have to do it alone. You have the Spirit of God to help you. Remember, He is the Great Enabler. Just take the instructions of the Lord one step at a time. Prepare your heart. Feed on the Word. Pray in the Spirit. Do as you are told, and He will work in your behalf.

Jesus said He could of Himself do nothing (John 5:19). But with the Holy Ghost's power in Him and on Him, He could do anything! He was not alone. "How God anointed Jesus of Nazareth with the Holy Ghost and with power: who went about doing good, and healing all that were oppressed of the devil; for

God was with him" (Acts 10:38).

Jesus was anointed with the same Holy Spirit Who anoints the Church, the same One Who lives in us. God expects us to obey His Spirit, then He will do the work. Everything we are told to do, we can do. We have the easy part. If we give Him place, He will do the rest.

"According as his divine power hath given unto us all things that pertain unto life and godliness, through the knowledge of him that hath called us to glory and virtue" (2 Peter 1:3).

The knowledge of God will bring us everything that His divine power has already provided for us. "All things that pertain unto life and godliness" are wrapped up in the Holy Spirit (see 2 Peter 1:3). As we listen to Him, hear His voice and obey, the things pertaining to life and godliness become ours in the earth.

Look at 2 Peter 1:2: "Grace and peace be multiplied unto you through the knowledge of God, and of Jesus our Lord." How are grace and peace multiplied? Through the knowledge of God and of Jesus our Lord. We receive that knowledge from the Holy Spirit as we listen and obey Him in the written Word and obey His prompting inside us. Isaiah 26:3 says, "Thou wilt keep him in perfect peace, whose mind is stayed on thee...." As we keep our minds on God, we will think about the right things, such as the Father, Jesus, the Word of God, faith, obedience, the glory of God.

We learn about God by reading and studying the written Word. We are enlightened and illuminated by the Spirit of Truth.

He leads and guides us. Not only does He teach us the Word, He also reveals God's will for our personal lives. He gives us the full knowledge of God because He is God's Spirit sent to live in us and teach us the things of God.

Through listening to Him and communicating with Him, in living communion with Him, grace and peace are multiplied to us. What is the wisest thing for you to do? Go after more of God. Pray in the Spirit. Pray with your understanding. Spend time with your Father. Read the Word and meditate on it. Think about it. Ask Him to teach you the truth. Ask Him to lead you. If you need to know something, ask Him about it. He is the teacher.

If you were a student in school and did not know what to do, you would ask your teacher. In the same

way, the Holy Spirit, Who proceeds directly from God, is living in you, and He is your own private tutor—your teacher. I know it is a difficult thing to fathom. You have to receive grace to believe it. You have to allow the Spirit of God to reveal it to you. Why would you walk in the dark or live in confusion when the Spirit of God is in you? There is only one reason—failure to listen to Him and do what He says.

The Spirit of God ministers grace to us on a dayto-day basis. That makes us want to be obedient so He can manifest His blessings in our lives. The obedient are blessed of God. It always has been that way. The Apostle James wrote:

"Ye adulterers and adulteresses, know ye not that the friendship of the world is enmity with God? whosoever therefore will be a friend of the world is the enemy of God. Do ye think that the scripture saith in vain, The spirit that dwelleth in us lusteth to envy? But he giveth more grace. Wherefore he saith, God resisteth the proud, but giveth grace unto the humble. Submit yourselves therefore to God. Resist the devil, and he will flee from you" (James 4:4-7).

Very often, people quote this scripture only partially. They say, "Resist the devil, and he will flee from you." First it says, "Submit yourselves to God." Then it says, "Resist the devil, and he will flee from you." Satan flees from the obedient.

By the Grace of God

"For I am the least of the apostles, that am not meet to be called an apostle, because I persecuted the church of God. But by the grace of God I am what I am..." (1 Corinthians 15:9-10).

It was the grace of God that brought Paul to where he was in God. That same grace works in you and me. It is not that we have been so wonderful or so perfect. He has favored us! Because of grace we will go on to the place God has for us.

We have to trust in His grace. Just say, "God, I know Your grace is available to me. It is sufficient. It's by grace that I am what I am."

I do not want God's grace bestowed on me to be in vain. I want to walk in that grace of God. I want Him to be able to do His perfect will in my life.

"By grace have you been saved completely in past time, with the present result that you are in a state of salvation which persists through present time, and raised us with Him and seated us with Him in the heavenly places in Christ Jesus, in order that He might exhibit for His own [interest] glory in the ages that will pile themselves one upon another in continuous succession, the surpassing wealth of His grace in kindness to us in Christ Jesus. For by the grace have you been saved in time past completely, through faith, with the result that your salvation persists through present time" (Ephesians 2:5-8, Wuest).

We are in a state of being made sound. Our salvation will continue to work until we come to the place in which we are predestined to live. You and I live in the permanent state of God's favor. If we will walk in obedience and listen to the Holy Spirit, He will lavish that grace upon us day by day.

Filled With and Controlled by the Holy Spirit

Ephesians 5:18 says, "...be filled with the Spirit." Paul wrote this letter to Spirit-filled Christians. He was instructing them in how to live. So, what does it mean to be filled with the Spirit? The word *filled* means "to be controlled." It is literally saying, "Be being filled. Stay filled to overflowing."

Wuest says, "Be constantly [filled] controlled by the Spirit." You are to conduct yourselves constantly in the spirit—instead of in the flesh or after your soul. You are to be continually controlled by the Spirit of God as you follow your spirit indwelt and influenced by Him.

Listen to the voice of your spirit, prompted by the Holy Spirit, and begin to act accordingly. As we are controlled by the Holy Spirit, we will make the proper adjustments to the Spirit as He leads us into certain areas and tells us things to do. Do the simple things you are led to do, like witness to someone, share God's Word with someone, give someone some money or pray for someone. Do what that inward witness directs you to do in the everyday decisions and choices you face.

Include a commitment to obey God during your morning prayer, "Lord, thank You for leading me by Your Spirit today. I set myself to listen and obey. See that I don't miss one of Your directions. My desire is to follow You in all things. Thank You for Your divine favor and blessing everywhere I go today. You are always so good to me. Thank You, Father."

If you'll pray that way, as you go through the day, you'll have supernatural knowledge come up on the inside of you that you would not have received if you had not spent time with God. The leading of the Holy Spirit is easy to miss unless you have made the decision to listen and pay attention.

When you receive that knowledge—act on it! As you do, the Holy Spirit will be able to give you grace in every situation. You'll find, as the Apostle Paul did, God's grace is sufficient for you: for His strength is made perfect in your weakness (2 Corinthians 12:9).

I learned that in an unforgettable way one morning many years ago. I was preparing to teach at the Southwest Believers' Convention in Fort Worth, studying this very subject of the grace of God, when I received a call that really hurt me. Now, I'm not very

easily hurt. But this situation concerned one of my children.

When someone mistreats my children, it's hard on me. The news I received wounded my heart. I was going to have to minister in just a little while and I was really hurting. What's more, I was starting to get mad

I would have kept right on getting madder, if it hadn't been for the leadership of the Holy Spirit. After I cried a little, I began praying in tongues and He sent one of those promptings into my spirit. *Get up on your feet and begin to praise the Lord.*

I can tell you, naturally speaking, that was the last thing I felt like doing. But I obeyed anyway. I stood up and began saying, "Lord, I worship You. I praise You." Then I jumped and praised for a little while.

Next I was impressed to read a prophecy I had been given. As I read it, I was strengthened. Finally, a scripture began to boil up inside me. "No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper" (Isaiah 54:17).

Then suddenly, I realized I was free. Just a few minutes before I had been so burdened down that I felt like I wouldn't be able to minister. I felt totally unable. But now all discouragement was gone. I wasn't bothered at all. It was over!

Looking back on that situation, I can see that my obedience released the grace of God to me. If I had continued to walk after the flesh and refused to do those things the Holy Spirit prompted me to do, I would have shut off His grace for that situation. He wouldn't have been able to set me free.

Think about it! I didn't realize at the time that those little things I was impressed in my spirit to do would be the key to my deliverance. I didn't know they would open the door to God's grace. But they did! I was able to walk in the comfort of the Holy Spirit as I obeyed Him. The weapon Satan formed against me could not prosper!

The same will be true for you. Great deliverance will most often come—not by overwhelming acts of God or burning bushes—but by hearing and obeying those quiet promptings of the Spirit. Your greatest victories will come by following the quiet promptings of God and walking in the comfort of the Holy Ghost one step at a time.

Be alive unto God. Obey Him. Choose Him. Then He will supernaturally manifest His presence in

your life. When you face a test or trial, you will know where to turn. You will know what to do. You will have confidence in God. You will receive the answer to whatever the situation may be. You may be tested and tried, but you will have an answer when you choose God. He is your answer!

When a negative situation arises, just continue to walk in the spirit and not in the flesh. Listen to the Lord. Make adjustments as the Spirit of God leads. Continue to do what you know to do.

Be faithful. If you stay in the Word and in faith, then you will not get discouraged or depressed. You will not throw up your hands and say, "God, why did You let this happen to me?" God is on your side. Listen to Him and He will show you the way of escape (1 Corinthians 10:13).

The more time you spend with God, fellowshiping with Him, the more your confidence in Him will grow. You will have boldness before the throne of grace and before the devils of hell. You will have the assurance that you have received whatever you ask. That's believing God!

Obeying Your Spirit

Walking in obedience is continually making proper adjustments to the Holy Spirit. Be quick to hear and quick to change. If we desire to be led of and by the Holy Spirit, we have to be willing to manage our lives in such a way that we stay in living contact with Him, moment by moment. If you spend all your time on natural things, the voice of your spirit will be indistinct and covered up by those things. There is a cost to pay to be able to continually hear from God, but nothing compared to the cost of missing His direction to you. If the proper adjustment is not made on your part, the Holy Spirit is hindered in performing His ministry on your behalf.

Remember the words we use in relation to hearing from God: inward witness, leading, guidance, prompting, unction. None of these are strong, forceful words. The number one way God leads His children is by a "witness" in their heart. Usually not a voice, but a knowing, "This is what you are to do." Christians who don't give God attention by spending time in prayer and time in the Word usually aren't able to give attention to the inward witness either. But if we walk after the things of God and learn to listen to the "knowing" that comes from our spirit into our understanding, we can walk in the light as He is in the light. We will never have to stumble in darkness. We can continually hear and obey what the Holy Spirit is saying and walk in the comfort of being controlled by Him. What a place to live!

Here is an example. Billye Brim had a friend whose son lives in Oakland, California, and works in San Francisco. These people are believers. One day in his office he had this thought, *I think I'll go home early and miss the traffic*. The World Series was being played in San Francisco at the time. From the way I understood it, it wasn't like a voice from heaven or strong, forceful or commanding. Just a "prompting." That is the way the leading of the Spirit usually is—quiet and subdued. God doesn't explain Himself; He just gives a direction. This man had a witness in his spirit. He agreed with it and left early. That was the day of the big earthquake in 1989. If he hadn't left early, he would have been on the Oakland freeway at the time it collapsed!

Making proper adjustments to what the Holy Spirit prompts you to do can save your life. Learn to be pliable in the hands of the Holy Spirit. The dictionary says *pliable* means "easily bent or molded; easily influenced or persuaded; readily yielding to

influence, argument, persuasion or discipline; adaptable, tractable." *Tractable* means "easily led, taught or managed." This is exactly what we want to be where God is concerned. See yourself pliable and tractable in the hands of God.

"'For I know the plans that I have for you,' declares the Lord, 'plans for welfare and not for calamity to give you a future and a hope" (Jeremiah 29:11, *New American Standard*). God has a wonderful and exciting plan for your life. To follow His plan we have to be easily led, taught and managed by the Holy Spirit.

In the Old Covenant, Israel refused to follow God because of unbelief. In essence God said to them, "This is what the Lord says—your Redeemer, the Holy One of Israel: 'I am the Lord your God, Who teaches you what is best for you, Who directs you in the way you should go. If only you had paid attention to My commands, your peace would have been like a river, your righteousness like the waves of the sea" (see Isaiah 48:17-18). If only you had paid attention! Church, let this not be so in our day.

If you make a quality decision to obey the written Word of God and to obey the inward witness as you hear from heaven moment by moment, you can continually enjoy a lifestyle of victory by walking in the comfort of the Holy Ghost.

The Holy Spirit is teaching and training us as we would teach and train a child because we are as little children in spiritual things. We have to become as little children to walk after the Spirit and not be afraid to make a mistake. We have to care more about what God thinks of us than what man thinks. What difference does it make what we look like to the world? What really counts is how we look to God!

7. Praying the Perfect Will of God

For so many years I walked on the written Word of God and depended on it. It changed my life. The Word renewed my thinking. I began to think like God thinks in many ways. But one area in which I was insecure was making decisions when the Word did not give me specific directions.

The Word does not tell us whether to move to another city or what person to marry. We have to make these individual decisions by the direction of God's Spirit in our spirits. We have to learn to listen to our spirit who is being communicated with by the Holy Spirit. Romans 8:16 says the Holy Spirit bears witness with our spirits.

You cannot wait until you see a burning bush or hear an audible voice to follow God. If you did, you would not know where you are going most of the time. I wish it were so plain when God talks to us that we could hear His audible voice, but that audible voice happens too rarely to rely on for everyday guidance.

Harden Not Your Heart

"Wherefore (as the Holy Ghost saith, Today if ye will hear his voice, harden not your hearts, as in the provocation, in the day of temptation in the wilderness.... Again, he limiteth a certain day, saying in David, Today, after so long a time; as it is said, Today if ye will hear his voice, harden not your hearts" (Hebrews 3:7-8, 4:7).

You must be willing to hear His voice and harden not your heart. How do you harden your heart? You resist the Word of God and the promptings of the Spirit. You decide, "No, that is not my will; I have decided to go another way." You might not make that actual declaration, but if the Spirit of God leads you to do something and you fail to do it, essentially you are saying, "I shall do my own will in this matter." If you harden your heart, it is unbelief to the written Word and to the voice of the Spirit of God that comes up within you. Harden your heart and you will not live in rest.

One definition of *harden* is "to make firm, solid or rigid." In Ezekiel 36:26, God says He will take away the stony heart and give a heart of flesh, or a soft heart, a pliable heart. You could say it is a heart that the Holy Spirit can maneuver.

So, if you harden *not* your heart, what happens to you?

"There remaineth therefore a rest to the people of God. Let us labour therefore to enter into that rest, lest any man fall after the same example of unbelief" (Hebrews 4:9, 11).

Enter Into His Rest

Teaching His disciples, Jesus said:

I thank thee, O Father, Lord of heaven and earth, because thou hast hid these things from the wise and prudent, and hast revealed them unto babes. Even so, Father: for so it seemed good in thy sight. All things are delivered unto me of my Father: and no man knoweth the Son, but the Father; neither knoweth any man the Father, save the Son, and he to whomsoever the Son will reveal him. Come unto me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest. Take my yoke upon you, and learn of me; for I am meek and lowly in heart: and ye shall find rest unto your souls. For my yoke is easy, and my burden is light (Matthew 11:25-30).

We should labor to enter into that rest. What is the rest of God? Walking in the Spirit. Walking in a life that is controlled by the Holy Spirit. This is the high life Jesus was talking about—walking in liberty from the bondages of this world. Nothing in this world can defeat us if we enter into the rest of God. To walk in His Spirit will make us obedient to Him, and the power of God will be manifested in us. People's souls are so pressured in this hour. There are so many problems in the world today, so many problems in individuals' lives. Jesus was talking to us in this passage. He was saying: "Whatever you learn of Me, cause that to be the path of your life, and you will find rest for your souls." Take His yoke upon you. It is easy. You'll love the results of obedience!

Give God Control

"For the word of God is quick, and powerful, and sharper than any twoedged sword, piercing even to the dividing asunder of soul and spirit..." (Hebrews 4:12).

The Word of God divides the soul and the spirit. The Word of God will distinguish, clarify or separate the soul and the spirit.

When I look back in my own life, I can see how I was held back spiritually. It was not my willingness to disobey God. I have been willing to obey Him since I first began to study His Word. It was my inability to hear from God and recognize His leading that held me back spiritually. It was not through any willful determination. I just did not recognize most of the time what God wanted me to do. When I had to make a decision, I would try to figure out the best way for me to go. I didn't know how to recognize my spirit.

Thank God, that is not the way you and I have to walk. We should not walk according to our own intellect or reasoning. We should walk according to the Spirit who knows all things. But we must make the decision to allow Him to direct our actions.

"In all thy ways acknowledge him, and he shall direct thy paths" (Proverbs 3:6).

A Word From God

Near the end of 1982 I heard a prophecy that changed my life. The Lord gave me direction and instruction. This word from the Lord impressed on me that if I would just give a tithe of my time, an hour or two a day to the Lord, all would be well, my life would be changed and empowered. At the time I especially thought about my family. I needed things well in my family.

One result of this exhortation by God's Spirit is that God led me to pray in the Spirit an hour each day. At that time, even five minutes seemed long to me. I just did not spend much time in prayer. I concentrated on God's written Word. I would go to Him, show Him His Word, believe it, act on it and it would come to pass in my life. But I had never spent much time in prayer. This word from God changed my life.

It has been more than 20 years since I decided to spend an hour or two with God every day. It has been of major importance to my spiritual growth and the well-being of my present life. I sincerely believe that all my needs are met abundantly today because I obeyed this direction. My children are serving the Lord. My grandchildren are well and happy. My children have blessed and happy marriages, and they are prospering. We are *all* well.

Ken and I are still happy and in love with each other after 46 years. I believe we have run the race God set before us and obeyed His will for our lives up to the present day. Yes, I am still spending at least an hour in prayer every morning. I like for all to be well!

But this prophecy wasn't just to me. It was to the Church. Spending time with God every day for an hour or two—in His presence: in prayer, in His Word, praising Him, in services—will change your life as well

The important thing is to do what God tells *you* to do and to be consistent in the things of God. Spending time in eternal things is not like spending time in the affairs of this world. Your prayers are eternal, and eternal things never end. They have everlasting reward.

Praying in the Spirit

"For he that speaketh in an unknown tongue speaketh not unto men, but unto God: for no man understandeth him; howbeit in the spirit he speaketh mysteries" (1 Corinthians 14:2).

When I began to pray an hour each day, I prayed mostly in the spirit—in other tongues. In the spirit I prayed the perfect will of God. I was able to pray His will even though I did not know the specifics of His will about many things with my intellect. I spoke mysteries unto God (Romans 8:26). Weymouth says "divine secrets."

"Likewise the Spirit also helpeth our infirmities: for we know not what we should pray for as we ought: but the Spirit itself maketh intercession for us with groanings which cannot be uttered. And he that searcheth the hearts knoweth what is the mind of the Spirit, because he maketh intercession for the saints according to the will of God" (Romans 8:26-27).

The Holy Spirit helps us to pray the perfect will of God. He makes intercession for the saints with groanings which cannot be uttered, but He does it through us. He does not do this on His own apart from us. We must listen to Him, obey Him and allow Him to help our weaknesses.

"...The Spirit also helpeth our infirmities." The word *infirmities* in the Greek is *weaknesses*. *The Amplified Bible* translates it this way: "So too the (Holy) Spirit comes to our aid and bears us up in our weakness...."

If something in your life is giving you trouble, the Spirit of God will bear you up and give you wisdom and strength to overcome it. He gives you answers. Ephesians 3:16 says, "...be strengthened with might by his Spirit in the inner man." The Spirit of God works within us to strengthen our spirits—to endue us with His power so we can overcome. He not only tells you what to do, He imparts to you the strength and ability to do it.

You may have been Spirit-filled for years but have not been listening to Him or paying attention to what He has been saying to you. He will give you the answer, every answer. Whether a large problem or small problem, the Spirit will work against it. He is our Helper, Strengthener, Standby, Intercessor, Advocate, Counselor, Teacher. He is on our side! Romans 8:31 says, "...If God be for us, who can be against us?" You could say, "If God be for us, what difference does it make who is against us!"

When He prays the will of God through you, He goes to the exact root of the problem. You and I might only realize the symptom. He deals with the cause. Thank God, there is nothing too hard for Him. And if you care about it, He cares about it.

Often we don't know how to pray as we ought. But the Spirit of God knows. The Spirit of God is in you to pray through you—to give you utterance in the perfect will of God. That is what praying in other tongues is all about. He prays God's answer through you. Praying in the Spirit overcomes the weakness you have because of lack of knowledge as well as the weakness you have because of living in a natural body. It helps your spirit to receive enlightenment and strength to dominate your actions.

"He that speaketh in an unknown tongue speaketh not unto men, but unto God: for no man understandeth him; howbeit in the spirit he speaketh mysteries" (1 Corinthians 14:2).

Jude 20-21 says, "But ye, beloved, building up yourselves on your most holy faith, praying in the Holy Ghost, Keep yourselves in the love of God, looking for the mercy of our Lord Jesus Christ unto eternal life."

Romans 8:27 reads, "And he that searcheth the hearts knoweth what is the mind of the Spirit...."

He makes intercession for the saints according to the will of God. God looks on the heart, and you look so much better in your heart than in your flesh. But He wants you to look as good on the outside as you look on the inside. Following after the Holy Spirit will bring that to pass. Following after the Word of God and the leading of God in your spirit will cause you to be conformed to the image of His Son (Romans 8:29).

In our hearts we must desire to please God. We must despise things in our lives that we know are not right before Him. As born-again believers, we do not want to sin. We want to be free. We want to please God.

The problem we've experienced has been getting our souls and bodies in agreement with our hearts. The Word of God and praying in the Spirit is the answer. We must give ourselves over to the Spirit of God, begin to pray in the Spirit, and allow the washing of the water of the Word to present us a glorious Church not having spot or wrinkle or any such thing and without blemish (see Ephesians 5:25-27)

You may ask, "But can't I pray in my own language?"

Yes, but not to the degree you need to be praying. You can only pray with your own understanding according to the knowledge you have. Many times you will not know enough in the natural to accurately pray for the answer, but the Holy Spirit inside you will provide God's solution when you pray in the Spirit. The Holy Spirit prays God's higher way into the situation—His perfect will.

We should pray both ways the Apostle Paul said:

"For if I pray in an unknown tongue, my spirit prayeth, but my understanding is unfruitful. What is it then? I will pray with the spirit, and I will pray with the understanding also: I will sing with the spirit, and I will sing with the understanding also" (1 Corinthians 14:14-15).

The Holy Spirit is in us to bring to pass the will of God in our lives. Bringing to pass God's will is the pre-eminent responsibility of the Church in the earth. Because the Church is made up of individual people, this responsibility starts with you and me. Each person in the Church standing before the Lord, being obedient to the Spirit of God, will cause God's will to be done in the earth.

We are favored to be able to pray with the understanding and with the spirit. We do not know enough in our natural minds to be that glorious Church without spot or wrinkle, but in the spirit realm we do. We must reach down into our spirits that are indwelt by the Holy Spirit and find out what to do. As we take our place in the spirit, God's special people will rise up in the earth.

What if We All Prayed in the Spirit?

Now think of all the different people it takes to make up the Body of Christ in the world today. What if we all prayed an hour each day in the Spirit? How many hours of praying the perfect will of God would that represent?

Once the Body of Christ rises up and becomes obedient to God, with each individual doing what he is told, we will reap the harvest of souls that God desires—and we will do it quickly!

God might tell one person to pray five hours. Someone else may be told to pray 15 minutes. The important thing is that we do what we are told. I was told to pray an hour each day, and it has changed my life. (Now I pray in English as much as in the Spirit—just whatever direction I receive.)

If you prayed in the Spirit one hour a day, by the end of the year you would have prayed 365 hours of the perfect will of God. Just 15 minutes a day would be 91 hours. Don't you think that would affect everything in your life for good? It certainly did mine. I wouldn't consider not spending time in prayer every morning.

I want you to realize that God will deal with you right where you are today. He might tell you to pray five minutes each day. He may ask you to start there and then increase. Five minutes is important when you are praying the perfect will of God. It is God praying through you. He gives the utterance, you give Him your authority and your voice. When you pray in the spirit, your intellect will not get in the way because you are not praying out of your head, but out of your spirit.

We must come to a place where we keep God's Word, obey His guidance and simply do what we are told—a body of people that God can depend on to do His will in the earth.

What God said exactly was "Don't take up all your time with natural things...but see to it that you give heed unto your spirit and give your spirit opportunity to feed upon the Word of God... and give your spirit opportunity to commune with the Father above and build yourself up on your most holy faith...just an hour or two out of 24, just pay a tithe of your time unto Me, saith the Lord and ALL WILL BE WELL."

8. Becoming the Glorious Church

So where are you in your walk of obedience? Are there adjustments you need to make? Are you ready to go on with God? Are you ready to *be* that glorious Church? I am.

Paul said in Romans 12:1-2:

I therefore beg of you, please, brethren, through the instrumentality of the aforementioned mercies of God, by a oncefor-all presentation to place your bodies at the disposal of God, a sacrifice, a living one, a holy one, well-pleasing, your rational, sacred service.... And stop assuming an outward expression that does not come from within you and is not representative of what you are in your inner being but is patterned after this age; but change your outward expression to one that comes from within and is representative of your inner being, by the renewing of your mind, resulting in your putting to the test what is the will of God, the good and well-pleasing and complete will, and having found that it meets specifications, place your approval upon it (Wuest).

Paul said to put your bodies at the disposal of God and stop assuming an outward expression that does not come from within us. In other words, we've got to stop being hypocritical. We usually consider a hypocrite to be someone who is wrong on the inside and tries to look right on the outside. He talks a certain way but is not really that way. This scripture is speaking of a believer who is right on the inside, but acts wrong on the outside.

It is a lie for us to live like the world when we are born again. We are not like the world when we are born again. We are like *God*, and we are to live like *Him. God says to us*, "I'm holy—you be holy. Separate yourself from the world."

We should look like God. We must change our outward expression by allowing that which is within us to come out. We have to allow the glory in us to be revealed. This happens by having our minds agree with God and allowing Him to express on the outside of us what He has already done on the inside of us.

Ephesians 4:17-23 in Wuest says:

"This, therefore, I am saying and solemnly declaring in the Lord, that no longer are you

to be ordering your behavior as the Gentiles order their behavior in the futility of their mind, being those who have their understanding darkened, who have been alienated from the life of God through the ignorance which is in them, through the hardening of their hearts, who, being of such a nature as to have become callous, abandoned themselves to wantonness, resulting in a performing of every uncleanness in the sphere of greediness. But as for you, not in this manner did you learn the Christ, since, indeed, as is the case, you heard and in Him were taught just as truth is in Jesus, that you have put off once for all with reference to your former manner of life the old self who is being corrupted according to the passionate desires of deceit; moreover, that you are being constantly renewed with reference to the spirit of your mind."

We are not walking in the futility of our souls, but in the newness of spirit. We are no longer alienated from the life of God. It is within us so we can walk after that newness of life instead of the darkness of the world.

Being God's Special People— That Glorious Church

"For the grace of God that bringeth salvation hath appeared to all men, Teaching us that, denying ungodliness and worldly lusts, we should live soberly, righteously, and godly, in this present world; Looking for that blessed hope, and the glorious appearing of the great God and our Saviour Jesus Christ; Who gave himself for us, that he might redeem us from all iniquity, and purify unto himself a peculiar people, zealous of good works" (Titus 2:11-14)

God is not a quitter. What He starts out to do, He will accomplish. He is so patient that He continues to work age after age to get His will accomplished. He will not stop until He gets this earth restored to the way it was when He originally made it, until He brings the restitution of all things in the earth.

The perfect will of God is the glorious Church. We are indeed becoming that Church without spot or wrinkle, having been washed by the water of the Word and cleansed before God. When we know the perfect will of God and begin to walk there, all nations will recognize it. When the glory of God is manifested in our midst, the whole world will know it

God is working toward that end, and you and I are His special people. He is counting on us to keep His Word and obey His voice so He can bring that plan to pass in the earth. We are vital to God's work. The Church of Jesus Christ holds the future of the world

The Spirit of God—even though He is here on the earth—is hidden inside you and me. He lives in us, and until we begin to obey God and cooperate with His plan, the Spirit is for the most part hidden to the world. The world sees the Holy Spirit, Jesus the Savior and God the Father through the Church.

"But he that is joined unto the Lord is one spirit" (1 Corinthians 6:17). We are one spirit with Him—one spirit with the Lord. Verses 19-20 read: "What? know ye not that your body is the temple of the Holy Ghost which is in you, which ye have of God, and ye are not your own? For ye are bought with a price: therefore glorify God in your body, and in your spirit, which are God's." We are the temple of the Holy

Spirit. He lives in us! You are to glorify God in your body and in your spirit which belong to God. We are a redeemed people. We are a purchased people. We are a peculiar (special) people, a royal priesthood. We have been bought with a price (1 Corinthians 6:20)—the blood of Jesus. He paid for us with the sacrifice of Calvary. We don't belong to ourselves. We belong to God. What a wonderful privilege to belong to God—to be His sons, His daughters.

"But ye are a chosen generation, a royal priesthood, an holy nation, a peculiar people [a treasure unto God]; that ye should show forth the praises [virtue] of him who hath called you out of darkness into his marvellous light" (1 Peter 2:9).

Acts 2:17-18 says God will pour out of His Spirit in the last days upon the servants and the handmaidens. The word translated *servants* and *handmaidens* means the same thing. One is the female gender and one is the masculine gender, but the word means *bondslave*. He will pour out His Spirit upon the bondslaves—upon those who have given up their will to His will.

Jesus though a son was a servant of the Father. He only did what the Father told Him to do. He did not even speak His own words.

You and I are born-again children of God. We choose to serve. God will not force us. We serve Him of our own free wills.

Jesus laid down His life to serve the Father. He is telling us to lay down our lives to serve Him, to become one who gives up his will for the will of another—like a handmaiden or a servant. Those are the ones upon whom God is going to pour out His Spirit. They will prophesy, and there will be signs and wonders.

We have a great future, both individually and as a Church, if we will follow after God and do in our lives what He says to do—instead of following our natural desires. We will find that the more we do what He says, the better our lives will be.

You will never be free unless you follow God. It is not what you and I want to do that counts. It is what God wants us to do. We can think of many good things to do with our lives, but these count for nothing in the sight of God. Unless we begin to walk in the spirit and follow after the Spirit of God, we will never come to that place where we know His

perfect will for our lives.

I'm Ready to Go On!

The word from God I referred to earlier caused me to drop less important things in my life to go after the things of God. It caused me to turn my attention to God's Word. Another part of that word talked about a spiritual army. The Holy Spirit exhorted that if we wanted to be a part of this army to purpose in our heart: not to be lazy, not to draw back, not to hold back or sit down, but to rise up, march forward and become on fire!

I wanted to be a part of the move of God. I wanted to be in that army of the Lord. I made adjustments in my life and began to march forward. I chose to run the race God has set before me and win!

9. From Glory to Glory

Let's look at 2 Corinthians 3:18 in Wuest:

"Now, as for us, we all, with uncovered face, reflecting as in a mirror the glory of the Lord, are having our outward expressions changed into the same image from one degree of glory to another according as this change of expression proceeds from the Lord, the Spirit, this outward expression coming from and being truly representative of our Lord."

As we look into the glory of God, live unto Him and have our souls renewed to allow that glory to change us on the outside, our outward expression will be changed into the same image from one degree of glory to another. It is a process that we are going through.

We must allow God to be God over our entire being—spirit, soul and body. Yield yourselves fully to the Holy Spirit. Live your life for God. Do what He tells you to do, whether you feel like it or not. Cause your will to be conformed to His Word. When you come to that place, the glory of God will be manifested in you.

You will be yielded to the Holy Spirit. The things of God are not hard. You just have to know how He thinks and then flow with Him. You cannot do it on your own.

In Matthew 17 Jesus took Peter, James and John to the Mount of Transfiguration. Verse 2 in *Wuest* says:

"And the manner of His outward expression was changed before them, that expression coming from and being representative of His inner being. And His face took on a different appearance so that it shone like the sun, and His outer garments became white like its light."

What happened to Jesus on the Mount of Transfiguration? The glory of God was revealed in Him. That which was inside Him began to show on the outside. It was not dropped upon Him from heaven. It came from inside Him. His outward expression changed to display His innermost being. The glory of God radiated through His body and through His clothing until He shone like the light of the sun.

We are being changed from glory to glory, from one degree of glory to another. As we allow the inner man to come into dominion over the outer man, the new creature in Christ Jesus will take over the life of the outer man. The outward expression will be changed. As Romans 12:2 tells us, "Don't be conformed to the world, but be transformed by the renewing of your mind."

How are we going to be transformed? We will be transformed by the Spirit of God when we renew our minds. And our minds are renewed by the Word of God

We can't transform ourselves. God is the only One Who can transform us. In fact, we can't even really change ourselves in a lasting way that will cause us to be transformed into His likeness. If that is true, then how can we change? What can we do to be transformed into His likeness?

This is an area where so many believers have felt frustration and failure. How many times have I heard Christians say, with sincere tears, "I've tried so hard to change but I just can't seem to do it. I go along pretty good for a while, doing what I should, but something inside isn't any different. And eventually I end up no better off than I was before. Where am I missing it?"

You don't change yourself by human power. You just commit to the Word, come into agreement with that Word, act on the Word and the Spirit of God will change you. When you commit yourself to hear and to obey the Word of God, the power of God through His Word will change you. Your desires will change; you will begin to desire what God wills. The glory of God revealed in you through His Word will absolutely transform you.

Let's look at 2 Corinthians 3:18 again. I particularly like the *wording in* The Amplified Bible:

"And all of us, as with unveiled face, [because we] continued to behold [in the Word of God] as in a mirror the glory of the Lord, are constantly being transfigured into His very own image in ever increasing splendor and from one degree of glory to another; [for this comes] from the Lord [Who is] the Spirit."

When you stop struggling to transform yourself by your own fleshly efforts and just commit yourself to God's Word, through the process of time you'll look up one day down the road and discover that you're different. You'll discover that your way of thinking has changed and worldly habits of the flesh have fallen away. Mortifying the flesh won't be the struggle it once seemed when you yield to the transforming power of His Word. The Apostle Paul said:

"For I reckon that the sufferings of this present time are not worthy to be compared with the glory which shall be revealed in us (Romans 8:18).

The glory of God was placed in you when you were born again. Second Corinthians 4:7 says, "We have this treasure [glory] in earthen vessels..." God wants to bring it to the surface, so it can be revealed to the world. As we pursue God's Word and yield to His Spirit, walking in the Spirit will become a way of life to us. We will get to the place where His glory will continually be revealed in us. Walking with Him will become as natural for us as breathing. And that is the very thing the heart of God has desired for so long.

You have the Spirit of God within you. Jesus is your Lord. Walk with the Lord. Obey His voice. Prepare your heart. Feed upon His Word. Listen to the Spirit of God as He speaks to your spirit. As you do, your mind will be changed to think in line with what God thinks. You will accept the great and mighty move of the Spirit of God as it comes in our day.

You will allow God to flow out of you in a supernatural way. The changing of your mind will allow the Spirit of God to take dominion in your life. You will flow in the supernatural as easily as a bird flies in the air, as naturally as a fish swims in water, as simply as you breathe air. Do you think about breathing? No, you just breathe naturally. In the same way, you will not be conscious of your faith or the power of God at work within you. The supernatural will become the natural way of life for you. It will not seem far out to you as you walk in the Spirit. It will not be unnatural when signs and wonders start happening in your midst. You will be more conscious of what is going on inside you. You will be more conscious of the flow of the Spirit of God as He manifests Himself. You cannot push a button and cause Him to be manifested, but you can walk with Him on a day-to-day basis. That is your part.

God does the changing. He changes your mind so that the supernatural is a natural way of life to you.

He gives you a part to play and that part is your responsibility. The rest is up to Him. You pray and study the Word and obey. He will change you from one degree of glory to another by His Spirit.

God has made us a special people, formed for Himself. We take His Word and put it into our lives. We obey regardless of tradition or what man thinks. We are a people who care more for what God thinks, than for what man thinks. We deeply desire to please God and to come into His complete will for our lives. We dare to believe God. When we hear His voice, we harden not our hearts. We are quick to obey. We walk after His Spirit.

WHAT A GLORIOUS CHURCH!

Prayer for Salvation and Baptism in the Holy Spirit

Heavenly Father, I come to You in the Name of Jesus. Your Word says, "Whosoever shall call on the name of the Lord shall be saved" (Acts 2:21). I am calling on You. I pray and ask Jesus to come into my heart and be Lord over my life according to Romans 10:9-10: "If thou shalt confess with thy mouth the Lord Jesus, and shalt believe in thine heart that God hath raised him from the dead, thou shalt be saved. For with the heart man believeth unto righteousness; and with the mouth confession is made unto salvation." I do that now. I confess that Jesus is Lord, and I believe in my heart that God raised Him from the dead.

I am now reborn! I am a Christian—a child of Almighty God! I am saved! You also said in Your Word, "If ye then, being evil, know how to give good gifts unto your children: HOW MUCH MORE shall your heavenly Father give the Holy Spirit to them that ask him?" (Luke 11:13). I'm also asking You to fill me with the Holy Spirit. Holy Spirit, rise up within me as I praise God. I fully expect to speak with other tongues as You give me the utterance (Acts 2:4). In Jesus' Name. Amen!

Begin to praise God for filling you with the Holy Spirit. Speak those words and syllables you receive—not in your own language, but the language given to you by the Holy Spirit. You have to use your own voice. God will not force you to speak. Don't be concerned with how it sounds. It is a heavenly language!

Continue with the blessing God has given you and pray in the spirit every day. You are a born-again, Spirit-filled believer. You'll never be the same!

Find a good church that boldly preaches God's Word and obeys it. Become part of a church family who will love and care for you as you love and care for them. We need to be connected to each other. It increases our strength in God. It's God's plan for us.

Make it a habit to watch the *Believer's Voice of Victory* television broadcast and become a doer of the Word, who is blessed in his doing (James 1:22-25).

About the Author

Gloria Copeland is a noted author and minister of the gospel whose teaching ministry is known throughout the world. Believers worldwide know her through Believers' Conventions, Victory Campaigns, magazine articles, teaching audios and videos, and the daily and Sunday *Believer's Voice of Victory* television broadcast, which she hosts with her husband, Kenneth Copeland. She is known for Healing School, which she began teaching and hosting in 1979 at KCM meetings. Gloria delivers the Word of God and the keys to victorious Christian living to millions of people every year.

Gloria is author of the New York Times bestseller, *God's* Master Plan for Your Life *and* Live Long, Finish Strong, *as well as numerous other favorites, including* God's Will for You, Walk With God, God's Will Is Prosperity, Hidden Treasures *and* To Know Him. *She has also co-authored several books with her husband, including* Family Promises, Healing Promises and the best-selling daily devotionals, *From Faith to Faith and* Pursuit of His Presence.

She holds an honorary doctorate from Oral Roberts University. In 1994, Gloria was voted Christian Woman of the Year, an honor conferred on women whose example demonstrates outstanding Christian leadership. Gloria is also the co-founder and vice president of Kenneth Copeland Ministries in Fort Worth, Texas.

Learn more about Kenneth Copeland Ministries by visiting our website at kcm.org

Materials to Help You Receive Your Healing

Books

- * And Jesus Healed Them All
- * God's Prescription for Divine Health
- * God's Will for Your Healing
- * Harvest of Health

Words That Heal (gift book with CD enclosed)

Audio Resources

Be Made Whole—Live Long, Live Healthy God Is a Good God God Wants You Well Healing Confessions (CD and minibook) Healing School

DVD Resources

Be Made Whole—Live Long, Live Healthy Know Him As Healer

*Resources available in Spanish

We're Here for You!

Your growth in God's WORD and victory in Jesus are at the very center of our hearts. In every way God has equipped us, we will help you deal with the issues facing you, so you can be the victorious overcomer He has planned for you to be.

The mission of Kenneth Copeland Ministries is about all of us growing and going together. Our prayer is that you will take full advantage of all The LORD has given us to share with you.

Wherever you are in the world, you can watch the Believer's Voice of Victory broadcast on television (check your local listings), the Internet at kcm.org or on our digital Roku channel.

Our website, kcm.org, gives you access to every resource we've developed for your victory. And, you can find contact information for our international offices in Africa, Asia, Australia, Canada, Europe, Ukraine and our headquarters in the United States.

Each office is staffed with devoted men and women, ready to serve and pray with you. You can contact the worldwide office nearest you for assistance, and you can call us for prayer at our U.S. number, +1-817-852-6000, 24 hours every day!

We encourage you to connect with us often and let us be part of your everyday walk of faith!

Jesus Is LORD!

Kenneth and Gloria Copeland